From THE DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR MEDICINE AND SURGERY Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

NOVEL PHARMACEUTICAL APPROACHES TO REGULATE GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS

Maj Sundbom



Stockholm 2010

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Karolinska Universityservice US-AB

© Maj Sundbom, 2010 ISBN 978-91-7409-743-6

ABSTRACT

The Western sedentary life-style and calorie excess is causing an increased incidence of obesity and type 2 diabetes. When untreated, these diseases are associated with heartand vascular disease, stroke, cancer, neuropathic pain, renal failure and infertility. The expected lifespan of type 2 diabetic patents is reduced by ~5-10 years compared to the healthy population. Presently there are several available therapies to treat type 2 diabetic patients, but no drug can normalise the high blood glucose level characteristic of the disease. There is a need to further understand the underlying mechanisms of the type 2 diabetes and to bring more efficient drugs to the patients. Decreasing calorie intake and increasing physical exercise are valuable tools for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Unfortunately, life-style is a challenge to change and many patients are not able to perform physical activity.

The enzyme AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is activated by both fasting and muscle contraction. We have sought to illuminate the impact of chronic activation with a chemically synthesised AMPK-activator, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxy-amide-1- β -D-ribofuranoside (AICAR), in rodent models of type 2 diabetes (study I and II).

Type 2 diabetes is associated with increased glucocorticoid levels, which concomitantly lead to a decrease in adiponectin levels. Cortisone is transformed to its active form cortisol, via 11 β hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (HSD) type 1. In study III, we sought to ascertain if inhibition of 11 β HSD1, with a new adipose-tissue-specific inhibitor, BVT116429, affects the concentration of circulating adiponectin with accompanying amelioration of glucose homeostasis in diabetic mice.

The ob/ob, KKA^y and KKA^y-CETP mice, were used to study the pharmacodynamic parameters and biomarkers of AMPK activation and 11 β HSD1 inhibition. The three animal models feature severe obesity, hyperinsulinaemia and hyperglycaemia. Activation of AMPK via AICAR-treatment and inhibition of 11 β HSD1 with BVT116429 resulted in improved glucose homeostasis. Clinical chemistry parameters were improved, including decreased plasma glucose.

The underlying mechanisms for the improvements in glucose homeostasis were studied. Acute AMPK activation normalised insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, which is in accordance with an observed two-fold increase in protein expression of GLUT-4, hexokinase II, and myocyte enhancer factor 2. Inhibition of 11β HSD1 with BVT116429 increased the concentration of adiponectin both *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

Pharmacodynamic studies were performed in well-validated models of type 2 diabetes, which increases the chance of succeeding in future clinical trails. This may increase the opportunity to help people with type 2 diabetes to live a longer and healthier life.

Drug discovery involves a complex series of steps, where the potential drug must pass several phases to reach the market and the patient. The chemical substances used in these studies were subjected to early drug discovery and analysis. The observed effects of these chemicals provide evidence for the usefulness of targeting AMPK and 11β HSD1 *in vivo* for the treatment of metabolic disturbances in type 2 diabetes and obesity.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- I. M. Fiedler, J.R. Zierath, G. Selén, H. Wallberg-Henriksson, Y. Liang, K.S Sakariassen. 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxy-amide-1-β-D-ribofuranoside treatment ameliorates hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia but not dyslipidaemia in KKA^y-CETP mice. *Diabetologia* (2001) 44:2180-2186
- II. X.M. Song, M. Fiedler, D. Galuska, J.W. Ryder, M. Fernström, A.V. Chibalin, H. Wallberg-Henriksson, J.R. Zierath. 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxyamide ribonucleoside treatment improves homeostasis in insulin-resistant diabetic (ob/ob) mice. *Diabetologia* (2002) 45:56-65
- III. M. Sundbom, C. Kaiser, E. Björkstrand, V. Castro, C. Larsson, G. Selén, C. Söderberg Nyhem, S.R. James. Inhibition of 11βHSD1 with the S-phenylethylaminothiazolone BVT116429 increases adiponectin concentrations and insulin sensitivity in diabetic KKA^y mice. *BMC Pharmacology* (2008) 8:3

CONTENTS

	1	Introduction1			
		1.1	Type 2 Diabetes, obesity and insulin sensitivity	1	
		1.2	Treatment of type 2 diabetes	2	
			1.2.1 Current treatments	2	
		1.3	Drug development	3	
			1.3.1 Target discovery including identification and validation	4	
			1.3.2 Screening	5	
			1.3.3 Lead generation and lead optimisation	5	
			1.3.4 Preclinical studies	7	
			1.3.5 Clinical studies and registration	7	
		1.4	Animal models of type 2 diabetes and obesity	8	
			1.4.1 Ob/ob mice	8	
			1.4.2 KKA ^y -mice	8	
			1.4.3 KKA ^y -CETP mice	8	
		1.5	Novel targets for the treatment of type 2 diabetes	9	
			1.5.1 AMP-activated protein kinase	9	
			1.5.2 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1	14	
	2	AIM	5	17	
	3	EXP	ERIMENTAL PROCEDURES	18	
		3.1	Animals	18	
		3.2	Treatments	18	
			3.2.1 AICAR (Study I and II)	18	
			3.2.2 11βHSD1-inhibitors (Study III)	19	
		3.3	Clinical chemistry	19	
			3.3.1 Clinical chemistry (Study I and II)	19	
			3.3.2 Clinical chemistry (Study III)	19	
		3.4	Body weight, food intake and body composition	19	
		3.5	Tissues	20	
		3.6	Basal and insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in skeletal muscle	20	
			3.6.1 Muscle incubation in non-treated animals	20	
			3.6.2 Muscle incubation in pre-treated animals	20	
			3.6.3 Assessment of glucose transport activity	20	
		3.7	Phosphotyrosine-associated phosphatidylinositol 3- kinase	21	
		3.8	Glycogen and triglyceride analysis	21	
		3.9	Protein expression studies	21	
		3.10	Nuclear extracts preparation	22	
		3.11	Electophoretic mobility shift assay	22	
		3.12	Oral glucose tolerance test	22	
			3.12.1 Study I and II	22	
			3.12.2 Study III	23	
		3.13	Insulin tolerance test	23	
			3.13.1 Study I and II	23	
			3.13.2 Study III	23	
		3.14	Euglycaemic clamp techniques	23	
			3.14.1 Clamp techniques after treatment with AICAR	23	

		3.14.2 Clamp after treatment with 11βHSD-inhibitor	. 23				
		3.14.3 Calculation of endogenous glucose production	. 24				
	3.15	11βHSD1 ex vivo Assay	. 24				
	3.16	Velocity sedimentation of serum samples	. 24				
	3.17	Immunoblotting	. 24				
	3.18	Adiponectin analyses in human primary adipocytes	. 25				
	3.19	Statistics	. 25				
		3.19.1 Study I	. 25				
		3.19.2 Study II	. 25				
		3.19.3 Study III	. 25				
4	RESU	ULTS and DISCUSSION	.26				
	4.1	Potency and pharmacodynamic activity of BVT116429	. 26				
	4.2	Glucose homeostasis	.26				
		4.2.1 Study I and II	.26				
		4.2.2 Study III	. 30				
	4.3	Body weight, body composition, food intake and leptin	. 32				
		4.3.1 Study I and II	. 32				
		4.3.2 Study III	. 33				
	4.4	Effect on biomarkers after treatment with AICAR	. 34				
		4.4.1 Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase	.34				
		4.4.2 GLUT4	.34				
		4.4.3 Myocyte enhancer factor 2	.35				
		4.4.4 Hexokinase II	.35				
		4.4.5 Glycogen synthase protein content	.35				
	4.5	Glycogen content in liver and gastrocnemicus muscle	.36				
	4.6	Triglyceride content in liver and muscle					
	4.7	Glucose uptake in isolated muscles	.36				
		4.7.1 Glucose uptake after acute stimulation	.37				
		4.7.2 Glucose uptake after 7-days AICAR-treatment	. 37				
	4.8	Additional AMPK activators and inhibitors	.37				
	4.9	The relationship between AMPK and 11βHSD	. 38				
	4.10	Treatments in the pipeline	. 38				
	4.11	Other animal models of type 2 diabetes	. 39				
	4.12	The clinical relevance	. 39				
		4.12.1 The clinical relevance of diabetic animal models	. 39				
		4.12.2 The clinical relevance of substances and diabetes targets	41				
	4.13	Ethical issues	41				
5	SUM	MARY	43				
	5.1	Study I and II	43				
	5.2	Study III	43				
6	CON	CONCLUSION and FUTURE PERSPECTIVES 45					
7	Ackn	Acknowledgements					
8	Refe	References					

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACC	Acetyl-CoA carboxylase
ACTH	Adrenocorticotrophic hormone
ADA	American diabetes association
AICAR	5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxy-amide-1-β-D-ribofuranoside
ALAT	Alanine aminotransferase
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
AMPK	AMP-activated protein kinase
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AS160	Akt substrate 160-kD
A ^y	Agouti
BMI	Body mass index
CaMKK	Ca ²⁺ /Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase
CETP	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein
Compound C	6-[4-(2-Piperidin-1-yl-ethoxy)-phenyl)]-3-pyridin-4-yl-
	pyrrazolo[1,5-a]-pyrimidine
CPT 1	Carnitine palmitoyltransferase
CRF	Corticotrophin-releasing factor
DEXA	Dual energy X-ray absorptimetry
DIO	Diet induced obese
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPPIV	Dipeptidyl peptidase IV
4E-BP	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E binding proteins
EDL	Extensor digitorum longus
eIF4E	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E
EMEA	European medicines agency
EPI	Epitrochlearis
FDA	Food and drug administration
FOXO	Forkhead box
GK	Goto-Kakizaki rat
GLP1	Glucagon-like peptide 1
G-6-P	Glucose-6-phosphate
GPR	G-protein coupled receptor
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor
hERG	Human ether-à-go-go related Gene
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HK	Hexokinase
11βHSD	11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
Ip	Intraperitoneal
Iv	Intravenous
IRS	Insulin receptor substrate
KHB	Krebs-Hensleits buffer
LMW	Low molecular weight
MEF2	Myocyte enhancer factor
MIRKO	Muscle-specific insulin receptor knockout mice
MMW	Medium molecular weight
$MO25\alpha/\beta$	Mouse protein 25

MODY	Maturity onset diabetes of young
MR	Mineralocorticoid receptors
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
NADPH	Nicotinamid adenine dinucleotid phosphate
NCE	New chemical entity
NZO	New Zealand obese
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PI3 kinase	Phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor
Sc	Subcutaneous
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SGT-2	Sodium-glucose cotransport
STRAD α/β	Ste20-related adaptor protein
TAK1	Transforming growth factor- β -activated kinase 1
TZD	Thiazolidinediones
UDP	Uridine diphosphate
VLDL	Very low-density lipoproteins
WHO	World health organization
ZMP	5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 TYPE 2 DIABETES, OBESITY AND INSULIN SENSITIVITY

The Western sedentary life-style and an abundance of calories are causing an increased incidence of obesity and type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. Type 2 diabetes is a globally growing disease due to improved welfare. The International Diabetes Federation (IDF) estimates that there are 246 million people with diabetes today. In Europe, the diabetes prevalence is 8.4% according to the same organisation. Throughout evolution, the greater part of mankind has gained genes encoded for energy conservation, which allow survival during famine. Our genes have not changed much during the last thousands of years, but our life style has dramatically changed. For instance, the intake of high fructose corn syrups, used not only in soft drinks, but also in other industrially produced food, has increased 1000% between 1970 and 1990 (Bray *et al.*, 2004).

Type 2 diabetes is a heterogeneous disease leading to increased plasma glucose levels. The subtype called maturity onset diabetes of the young (MODY) is mainly due to genetic factors and has little to do with life-style. There are also many populations with increased risk for type 2 diabetes, such as the Pima Indians (Sievers *et al.*, 1992). Drugs, smoking and other toxic substances can also increase the risk of type 2 diabetes (Virmani *et al.*, 2007; Willi *et al.*, 2007). The International Diabetes Federation estimates that 80% of all type 2 diabetes cases could be prevented by adopting a healthy diet and increasing physical activity.

Untreated type 2 diabetes can result in heart and vascular disease or stroke (Asadollahi *et al.*, 2007). Increased plasma glucose and insulin levels are also associated with cancer risk (Jee *et al.*, 2005; Slattery & Fitzpatrick, 2009). There can also be problems with wound healing (Brem & Tomic-Canic, 2007), neuropathic pain, retinopathy (Crawford *et al.*, 2009), kidney disease (Alwakeel *et al.*, 2009) and fertility (Yogev & Catalano, 2009) associated with type 2 diabetes.

Diabetes is characterised by elevated plasma glucose levels, peripheral insulin resistance, impaired glucose tolerance, dyslipidaemia, increased hepatic glucose production and beta cell defects (Groop, 2000). The current diagnostic criteria for type 2 diabetes is fasting plasma glucose \geq 7.0 mM (126 mg/dl) or plasma glucose \geq 11.1 mM (200 mg/dl) 2 hours after an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT; 1.75 g glucose/kg of body weight, maximum 75 g glucose) (WHO 2006). WHO has changed the criteria from \geq 8.0 mM (1980) to \geq 7.8 mM (1985) and now to \geq 7.0 mM (1999 and 2006). One reason for these changes is that epidemiological studies provide evidence for increased diabetes complications, such as retinopathy when glucose levels are higher (Gabir *et al.*, 2000).

For many patients, the type 2 diabetes starts with visceral obesity, leading to insulin resistance and hyperinsulinaemia. At this time, the patient is often unaware of the disease and it is only when the body cannot adjust for insulin resistance by increasing insulin production that the patient will notice elevated glucose levels or hyperglycaemia. The patient will also have elevated hepatic glucose production, due to hepatic insulin resistance. In the late stage of the disease, there is severe beta cell loss and insulin levels are low, followed by a rise in glucose. At this stage, insulin therapy is one of the primary treatment options. The disease progression from pre-diabetes to type

2 diabetes is long, and it may take more then ten years before type 2 diabetes is diagnosed. As the population tends to gain weight, this time-line is compressed and today there are both adolescents and children with type 2 diabetes.

1.2 TREATMENT OF TYPE 2 DIABETES

1.2.1 Current treatments

The cure for type 2 diabetes is elusive and education about life-style changes may offer the best option for disease prevention. Most patients are treated with several drugs at the same time, since monotherapy is often inefficient. Compliance is decreased by the large number of pills and side-effects from the medication, such as hypoglycaemia, weight gain and gastrointestinal inconveniences. The current therapies are sulfonylurea, biguanides, alphaglucosidase inhibitors, peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) γ agonist, glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP1) analogues, dipeptidyl peptidase (DPPIV) inhibitors, and insulin.

Metformin is an inexpensive biguanide and has been on the market for several decades. The mechanism of action for metformin is still uncertain, but it inhibits gluconeogenesis and increases peripheral glucose uptake (Wiernsperger & Bailey, 1999). Metformin is metabolised via the kidneys and since many patients with type 2 diabetes present with renal disease, this can result in lactic acidosis. Phenformin and buformin, two former biguanides were withdrawn in the early 1970's due to the increased risk of lactic acidosis (Cusi *et al.*, 1996).

Another conventional treatment on the market is sulfonylurea, which increases insulin production by closing the potassium channels in the beta cell. Unfortunately, this treatment is only effective if there is sufficient beta cell mass. Since beta cell mass usually decreases with time, this treatment option is inefficient after several years. High levels of insulin not only increase the patient's weight, but an overdose of sulfonylurea can also lead to hypoglycaemia. There are two newer substances in the clinical treatmet of type 2 diabetes including RepaglinidTM and NateglinidTM, which also work through the potassium channels in pancreas. NateglinidTM is more selective for the potassium channels in the pancreas compared to other tissues such as heart.

Alphaglucosidase inhibitors prevent the metabolism of polysaccharides to monosaccharides, which results in decreased glucose uptake from the intestine. The effect is less than that achieved with metformin or sulfonylurea. Alphaglucosidase inhibitors have gastrointestinal inconveniences as a common side effect.

The thiazolidinediones (TZD) or PPAR γ agonists have been on the market for ten years and they improve glucose tolerance and whole body insulin sensitivity. Unfortunately, weight gain is one side-effect and there have been some severe problems with liver toxicity. The first TZD approved by the FDA (Food and Drug Administration) in the USA was withdrawn after reports of liver failure and deaths (Scheen, 2001). Moreover, a meta-analysis suggested that the use of rosiglitazone was associated with an increased risk for cardiovascular events (Nissen & Wolski, 2007).

Two recently approved treatments for type 2 diabetes that enhance insulin production after a meal are the long-acting GLP1 analogues ExenatideTM and LiraglutideTM. SitagliptinTM, SaxagliptinTM and VidagliptinTM are DPPIV-inhibitors, which decrease the breakdown of GLP1 and thereby prolong the half life of endogenous GLP1. The DPPIV-inhibitors have oral bioavailability, which is an advantage over the GLP1 analogues, which have to be injected. Additional data is

required to fully validate the efficacy and safety of DPPIV inhibitors and GLP1 mimetics in the long-term treatment of type 2 diabetes.

Insulin is the only current treatment for type 2 diabetes in the late stages of the disease. Injections are inconvenient and there are difficulties in finding the right dose. BuccalTM insulin (Bernstein, 2008) is a new formulation, which might be helpful for children and patients who suffer from injections.

A large systematic review of oral diabetes agents (Bolen *et al.*, 2007) has provided evidence that suggests in spite of newer treatments; metformin seems to have the best profile of benefit to risk. Metformin has similar or superior effects on glycaemia control than newer drugs. Although the number and forms of treatments for type 2 diabetes has increased in the last ten years, there are continuous difficulties in reaching the goal to normalise glycaemia. There is still a great medical need to develop novel drugs with improved efficacy and with fewer side-effects for the treatment of type 2 diabetes.

1.3 DRUG DEVELOPMENT

There are different types of drugs including small molecules, also called new chemical entities (NCE), large molecules and monoclonal antibodies. Small molecule drugs predominantly work on G protein-coupled receptors, ion channels, nuclear receptors and enzymes. The antidiabetic drug metformin is an example of a small molecule drug. The protein insulin is an example of a large molecule drug. InfluximabTM, used in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, is an example of a monoclonal antibody. Targeting the genome is possibly the most challenging approach, but new technology including antisense, RNAi, DNAzymes and ribozymes makes this a realistic possibility for the future. This thesis will emphasise on the development of small molecule drugs.

There are no governmental rules for early drug discovery. However, when the potential drug is in preclinical and clinical phases, specific guidelines must be followed. Therefore, the drug development funnel for small molecules might differ between companies and also for different targets, however most pharmaceutical companies have similarities in their pipelines.

Several years are required to move an idea to the drug product market. The timeline, can easily stretch 12 years from idea to market (Figure 1). The process starts with target discovery, followed by screening for molecules, lead generation, lead optimisation, selection of candidate drug, preclinical phase, clinical phases and ends with registration of the product. Each phase has the power to end the project. If the criteria's set for the earlier phases are not accomplished, the project cannot enter the later phase. Exactly which tests are performed in each phase varies depending on the timeline, target, strategy and economy of the company.



Figure 1. Timeline for drug development from target discovery to registration of drug.

1.3.1 Target discovery including identification and validation

The drug discovery pipeline starts with identification of the drug target. There are many criteria, which must be accomplished for a potential drug including an unmet medical need, the possibility to obtain a patent, the ability of the drug to reach the target, an acceptable route of administration, as well as potency and safety.

Historically, many drugs were the products of serendipity. For example phenformin, the ancestor to metformin, was first used as a drug for malaria prophylaxis, but patients with type 2 diabetes experienced improvement of their blood glucose levels and thereby an oral treatment for type 2 diabetes was discovered. The drug discovery phase is exploratory and today we have the possibility to search for information in databases and in the literature. Novel targets can be identified through gene transcription profiling, protein expression profiling, metabolic pathways, protein glycosylation, and protein-protein interactions. Underestimated target identification is to study pathophysiology and thereby draw conclusions. One historic example was when Banting and Best discovered and isolated insulin in 1921 and found that lack of insulin was the cause of diabetes mellitus.

When the target is identified, it must be biologically validated. Questions to be answered during this phase include which cell types the target is expressed in, if there are any safety implications, and if they are species specific issues, and which biomarkers can be used. It is also valuable to compare the pattern of expression between the healthy and disease state. Chemical substances, which interact with the system of interest, are also useful in target validation.

Small rodents are the first choice for both target identification and validation *in vivo*. The technique of genetically modified mice models has changed focus from rats to mice. The mouse genome was one of the first to be sequenced (Okazaki *et al.*, 2002; Waterston *et al.*, 2002). There are possibilities with transgenic mice, where new genes have been introduced and knockout mice, where genes have been removed. In a constitutive knock-out mouse, the deletion is present in all cells and during all states of development, whereas in the conditional mutation, it is only in special cell types or in a specific state of development. Caution should be taken when interpreting knock-out and transgenic models. The impact depends on which organs that are involved and the extent of the modulation.

The preferred level of validation is broad, but if the target is well-validated in the literature, the competition from other companies and groups is tougher. There is a balance between broad validation with high competition, and less validation with low competition.

1.3.2 Screening

After the target is identified and validated, the search for chemicals starts. The screen is a way of finding starting points for the construction of new chemical entities (Figure 2). First of all, an assay must be set up. This is often a binding assay, where only one concentration of the compound is tested. Large companies often do a high through-put screen using a library of thousands of chemicals. This enterprise can be outsourced to other specialised screening companies. The collaborative agreement is then exclusive for that specific target. Since high through-put screening is expensive, other alternatives have been invented, for example virtual screening by computer chemists and searching for start points from patents or other literature sources. If a high through-put screening is used, many binding substances are found in the first large screen, which is quite rough and will give both false negative and false positive values for the chemicals. The substances that are binders are then confirmed in a confirmatory assay where more concentrations of the drug are tested and thereafter in an orthogonal assay i.e. an assay which tests for the same function, but in another way. Depending on the time-line and target, several different functional assays might be used. The functional assays are biologically relevant to the target.



Figure 2. Screening funnel.

1.3.3 Lead generation and lead optimisation

In this phase, the starting points for the chemicals found in the initial screens are developed towards more potent molecules with the desired characteristics. The confirmed hit compounds are tested for parameters such as metabolic stability, cytochrome enzymes, solubility, permeability and predicted plasma protein binding properties. The compounds are also tested for selectivity to related targets. There is no rule for which characteristics a potential drug should have, but it is often desirable to have low protein binding, high permeability and high metabolic stability, because that will result in a lower predicted effective dose. However, the "Lipinski's rule of 5", suggests a formula for how a chemical substance should be composed for successful oral availability (Lipinski *et al.*, 2001). High solubility is also desirable, both due to the formulation of the future drug and for easier preparations of solutions for assays. Two

to three lead series of compounds are chosen to increase the probability of success in lead optimisation (Figure 3). The border between lead generation and optimisation is often indistinct and might vary for different projects. Sometimes the first *in vivo* studies are performed already in lead generation and sometimes first in lead optimisation phase.



Figure 3. Lead identification funnel.

The aim with the lead optimisation phase is to find one or two candidate drugs to take into further preclinical studies (Figure 4). Several substances are chosen for studies of pharmacokinetics in vivo. The substances are given intravenously, orally and sometimes via some other route of administration to normal mice. A drug which can be taken orally or in the second case, subcutaneously, is desirable. The pharmacokinetic studies will reveal the degree of plasma protein binding in vivo, half time of the substance, clearance, distribution volume and the maximal plasma concentration. These values are used to decide if a compound is good enough to be tested in vivo and to predict doses for the pharmacodynamic studies. When a substance appears promising, it is tested in tolerance studies. Three doses are mostly chosen, where one is higher than the predicted dose in pharmacodynamic studies. In the tolerability study, which is similar to the regulatory core battery of safety pharmacology assays, a few animals are dosed with the substance and behaviour and health status of the animals is recorded. A neurobehavioral Irwin screen (Irwin, 1968) is often used, which is a visual scoring for parameters such as piloerection, body position and spontaneous activity. The highest tolerable dose is found and with this information, together with the pharmacokinetic information, potency and in vitro data, the doses for pharmacodynamic studies are chosen.

The pharmacodynamic studies can be performed in normal animal strains and in disease models, where the latter is a pathological condition resembling a human disease. The animal models can be developed spontaneously or induced with diet, surgery or toxins. The pharmacodynamic studies seldom fully mirror the human disease, and therefore the data must be interpreted with this limitation in mind. Several animal models and pharmacodynamic techniques are needed to get a complete picture of how the drug improves the disease state. Since the introduction of genetically modified mouse models, rats are seldom used for pharmacodynamic studies. The disadvantage with using rats in drug discovery is that they are heavier than mice and therefore consume more of the potential drug.

Other safety aspects of the drug are often tested, including the impact of the drug on ion channels. Especially important is the ether-à-go-go related gene (hERG) (Sanguinetti *et al.*, 1995; Trudeau *et al.*, 1995) which is coding for an ion channel in the heart. Inhibition of it may induce heart arrhythmia. This can be studied with simpler inhibition assays and more advanced techniques such as the patch clamp (Hamill *et al.*, 1981).



Figure 4. Lead optimisation funnel.

1.3.4 Preclinical studies

If, or when the compound has shown satisfactory effects in pharmacodynamic studies, the safety and toxicology studies follow (at least in two models, where one is a non-rodent) before the clinical program is initiated. The aim of the preclinical studies is to answer all the regulatory demands to be able to package the project for clinical trails. This is often the phase when the first human dose of the drug is predicted from animal data.

1.3.5 Clinical studies and registration

The aim of the first clinical study, called phase I is to indicate a safe dose interval for later studies in patients and to document pharmacokinetic properties of the future drug. Approximately 30 to 100 healthy men and woman receive increasing doses of the substance until some kind of effect is shown. The absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion and tolerability are measured. The aim of the phase II study, including 300 to 1000 patients, is to show that the drug is useful for therapeutic purposes. In phase IIa, proof of concept in humans is shown i.e. that the drug has its desired effect in patients. The therapeutic dose interval is established in the phase IIb study. The aim with the phase III study, generally performed in 3000-10 000 patients, is to a) prove statistically that the drug has a favourable efficacy, b) compare the new drug with competitors and c) establish limitations in the use of the drug. Phase IV is conducted after the registration of the drug and includes a large number of patients. The aims are to show the safety profile of the drug and generalise the results to a larger population.

Depending on where the drug shall be sold, the site of registration is chosen. There are several choices; the national registration via the medical product agency for the specific country, mutual recognition or centralised registration via the European Medicines Agency (EMEA). The Food and Drug Administration is the medical product agency in the United States.

1.4 ANIMAL MODELS OF TYPE 2 DIABETES AND OBESITY

There are vast numbers of different type 2 diabetes rodent models. Since the disease presents with different pathologies, pre and post-insulin receptor, it is convenient to have models that mimic some of the different features of the diabetic phenotype. The models can be spontaneous or experimentally induced. The major concerns in the use of animal models, however, relate to their relevance with respect to human disease. The following diabetic animal models were used in the studies in this thesis: ob/ob-mice, KKA^y mice and KKA^y-CETP mice.

1.4.1 Ob/ob mice

The ob/ob mouse strain results from a single and spontaneous gene mutation. The ob/ob mouse (B6.v-lep^{ob}/J) has a mutation in the ob gene, in chromosome 6, which results in failure of the white adipose tissue to produce functional leptin (Zhang *et al.*, 1994). The hormone leptin inhibits feeding and has impact on energy expenditure. Lack of leptin will lead to hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulinaemia, insulin resistance and obesity. The ob/ob mice have all these features and the syndrome is reversed if the mice are injected with leptin (Campfield *et al.*, 1995; Halaas *et al.*, 1995; Pelleymounter *et al.*, 1995).

1.4.2 KKA^y-mice

The Japanese inbred KK mouse strain (Kondo *et al.*, 1957; Nakamura, 1962) develops type 2 diabetes with mild obesity, mainly due to peripheral insulin resistance. With the introduction of the agouti (A^y) allele, the KKA^y mouse was produced (Nishimura, 1969; Suto *et al.*, 1998). The agouti peptide acts as an antagonist at the melanocortin 4 receptor, to inhibit the action of melanocyte-stimulating hormone signals. Dominant mutations in the agouti gene lead to a syndrome characterised by obesity, mild hyperphagia, decreased thermogenesis, hyperinsulinaemia, peripheral insulin resistance, impaired glucose tolerance, mild hyperglycaemia in males and yellow fur. The KKA^y mouse is an obese mouse with severe hyperglycaemia. The severity of the disease often results in wounds and tumours. Daily health inspections of the animals are necessary to remove the animals with wounds and tumours from the studies.

1.4.3 KKA^y-CETP mice

One disadvantage with mice being used as diabetic disease models is that rodents with severe diabetes still have higher high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels, which is the `good cholesterol', in comparison with humans. The main reason for this might be that mice, rats, dogs and pigs lack cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP). The role of CETP is to transfer cholesteryl ester out of HDL to chylomicrons and very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL). The cholesterol is thereafter transported to the liver and eliminated. In man, about 80% of cholesteryl ester formed on HDL is carried to other

lipoproteins by this route. This redistribution of lipoproteins makes the fraction of VLDL higher compared with HDL.

To bring the lipid profile in the mouse model closer to that found in humans, simian CETP was expressed in a diabetic mouse model resulting in the KKA^y-CETP mouse whose diabetic characteristics are partly from the KK mouse (a polygenetic model of type 2 diabetes with mild obesity) and partly from C56BL/6J mice expressing the agouti gene. The procedure was as follows: the C57BL/6J mouse expressing the agouti gene (C57BL/6J -A^y) was crossed with the C57BL/6J mouse expressing simian CETP, resulting in the C57BL/6J-A^y-CETP mouse. The C57BL/6J-A^y-CETP mouse was then crossed with the KK mouse. The offspring expressing the agouti gene had yellow fur and those who also expressed the simian CETP gene were recrossed with KK mice. After six generations the offspring were defined as KKA^y-CETP mice. The transgenic KKA^y -CETP mouse is an obese and diabetic mouse with a lipid profile similar to humans (Castle *et al.*, 1998).

1.5 NOVEL TARGETS FOR THE TREATMENT OF TYPE 2 DIABETES

1.5.1 AMP-activated protein kinase

AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is suggested to be a metabolic master switch, which senses the metabolic status of the organism, and regulates both anabolic and catabolic pathways (Winder & Hardie, 1999). Exercise is a natural activator of AMPK, but it is also activated by metabolic stress (Long & Zierath, 2006), glucose deprivation (de Lange *et al.*, 2007), hormones (Minokoshi *et al.*, 2002; Tomas *et al.*, 2002; Yamauchi *et al.*, 2002), fructose treatment in hepatocytes (Gillespie & Hardie, 1992), heat shock (Corton *et al.*, 1994), drugs (Zhou *et al.*, 2001; Fryer *et al.*, 2002a) and other chemical substances (Hayashi *et al.*, 1998; Cool *et al.*, 2006).

1.5.1.1 Structure of AMPK

The AMPK protein is a heterotrimer and composed of a catalytic α unit (Carling *et al.*, 1989) with the subunits $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ (Woods *et al.*, 1996), and two noncatalytic regulatory units, β (Thornton *et al.*, 1998) and γ (Davies *et al.*, 1994) with the subunits $\beta 1$, $\beta 2$, $\gamma 1$, $\gamma 2$ and $\gamma 3$. Each subunit is encoded by different genes and has a unique role in the regulation and activation of AMPK. The α -subunit contains the activating phosphorylation site Thr¹⁷² (Mitchelhill *et al.*, 1997). The AMPK β -subunit has the function of docking the protein to membranes (Warden *et al.*, 2001) and the γ -subunit binds to AMP or ATP (Kemp, 2004). All three subunits must be expressed for full activation of the enzyme. The constitution of the heterotrimer differs between species, with the $\alpha 2\beta 2\gamma 3$ expressed predominantly in human skeletal muscle (Chen *et al.*, 1999) and $\alpha 2\beta 2\gamma 1$ in rat skeletal muscle (Cheung *et al.*, 2000).

The AMPK subunits have different subcellular distributions, where $\alpha 1$ is located in the cytoplasm and $\alpha 2$ is located in the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Salt *et al.*, 1998). The AMPK β -subunits are located in the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Warden *et al.*, 2001). The γ 1-subunit is to a larger extent found in the nucleus than the other two γ subunits (Turnley *et al.*, 1999). AMPK $\alpha 2$, $\beta 2$ and $\gamma 1$ are the subunits found in the nucleus. There are several ways for AMPK to turn from an inactive to an active form and at least one way to deactivate it (Suter *et al.*, 2006). Adenosine 5'-monophosphate (5'-AMP) can allosterically bind to AMPK via the γ -subunit (Ferrer *et al.*, 1985; Kemp, 2004). An increase in ATP inhibits the binding of AMP to the γ -subunit (Scott *et al.*, 2004). AMPK can also be activated by three AMPK kinases i.e. LKB1, Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase (CaMKK) and transforming growth factor- β -activated kinase 1 (TAK1) (Figure 5). AMPK can be dephosphorylated by protein phosphatases 2A and 2C (Suter *et al.*, 2006), and their access to AMPK is suggested to be regulated by AMP-binding (Witczak *et al.*, 2008).

Mice with muscle specific LKB1 knockdown have reduced AMPK activity and glucose uptake in skeletal muscle is impaired in response to contraction or exposure to the AMPK activator, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxy-amide-1- β -D-ribofuranoside (AICAR), but not after stimulation with insulin (Sakamoto *et al.*, 2005). For full AMPK activation through LKB1, additional proteins including Ste20-related adaptor protein (STRAD α/β) (Baas *et al.*, 2003) and mouse protein 25 (MO25 α/β) (Boudeau *et al.*, 2003) are needed.

AMPK activation by CaMKK α/β is AMP-independent (Suter *et al.*, 2006), but Ca²⁺-dependent. When the intracellular level of Ca²⁺ is high, it forms a complex with calmodulin and this complex binds to CaMKK and AMPK is activated (Hawley *et al.*, 1995; Tokumitsu *et al.*, 2001).

The third AMPK kinase is TAK1, which *in vivo* forms a complex with TAK-1 binding protein 1 (TAB1) and TAK-1 binding protein 2 (TAB2) or TAK-1 binding protein 3 (TAB3) (Cheung *et al.*, 2004; Besse *et al.*, 2007). In mice with defective TAK1, the phosphorylation of AMPK at Thr¹⁷² is blocked with concomitantly less AMPK activity (Xie *et al.*, 2006). In cell cultures, TAK1 can be activated by three AMPK-activators i.e. metformin, AICAR, and the mitochondrial toxin oligomycin (Xie *et al.*, 2006). In the absence of TAK1, activation with these agents is impaired.

Liver, adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle are three important organs in the regulation of glucose homeostasis. Interestingly, skeletal muscle expresses LKB1, STRAD, MO25, CaMKKα, TAK1 and TAB1 (Shibuya *et al.*, 1996; Taylor *et al.*, 2004; Witczak *et al.*, 2007).



Figure 5. Regulation of AMPK. AMPK can be switched to its active form by allosteric binding of AMP, phosphorylation by LKB1 together with MO25 and STRAD, phosphorylation by CaMKK or phosphorylation by TAK1 together with TAB1 and TAB2 or TAB3. AMPK is deactivated by dephosphorylation by protein phosphatase 2A or 2C.

1.5.1.3 Physical activity and AMPK activation

Muscle contraction through physical activity is a physiological way to activate AMPK (Mu *et al.*, 2001; Musi *et al.*, 2001) and this is accomplished in several ways. Muscle contraction activity results in an increase in the intracellular Ca^{2+} levels. Calcium is released from the sarcoplastic reticulum to the muscle fibres (the myofibrils). The myofibrils are composed of actin and myosin. Calcium binds to a protein, troponin, at the actin filament and enables myosin to react with actin, which results in contraction. One ATP-molecule is used for each reaction i.e. physical activity consumes energy and it results in increased AMP:ATP levels, which can activate AMPK allosterically (Kemp, 2004). Rising AMP-levels also inhibit protein phosphatases known to dephosphorylate AMPK (Suter *et al.*, 2006). The increased intracellular Ca^{2+} -levels activate AMPK through CaMKK (Tokumitsu *et al.*, 2001).

1.5.1.4 Physiological response to AMPK activation

The activated AMPK has different effects in different organs (Long & Zierath, 2006):

- Skeletal muscle: Increased glucose uptake (Hayashi *et al.*, 1998), increased free fatty acid uptake and lipid oxidation (Merrill *et al.*, 1997; Merrill *et al.*, 1998; Osler & Zierath, 2008).
- Liver: Inhibited fatty acid synthesis, cholesterol synthesis and gluconeogenesis (Henin *et al.*, 1995; Bergeron *et al.*, 2001).
- Adipose tissue: Inhibited fatty acid synthesis and lipolysis (Sullivan *et al.*, 1994).
- Hypothalamus: Increased food intake (Andersson *et al.*, 2004)
- Pancreas: Decreased insulin secretion (Salt *et al.*, 1998)

The tissue-specific effects of AMPK constitute a physiological way to deal with enhanced physical activity. During exercise, skeletal muscle needs energy from glucose and free fatty acids. Physical activity leading to AMPK activation results in increased glucose uptake due to GLUT-4 translocation (Hayashi et al., 1998). The activation of AMPK by AMPK-kinases can also lead to phosphorylation and inactivation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC), and thereby a decrease in malonyl-CoA. The inhibition of carnitine palmitoyltransferase (CPT 1) by malonyl-CoA is relieved and fatty acid oxidation increases as exercise continues (Merrill et al., 1997). Rats running on a treadmill show activation of AMPK, inhibition of ACC and decreased malonyl-CoA levels (Winder & Hardie, 1996). Furthermore, synthesis of fatty acids and cholesterol are inhibited after AMPK-activation (Henin et al., 1995). Isolated muscles which were contracted for ten minutes showed increased AMPK activity with a concomitant increased glucose transport, decreased glycogen content and decreased ACC activity (Derave et al., 2000). Glucose is transported into skeletal muscle by an insulinindependent mechanism in response to muscle contraction, and therefore insulin is not required. This was demonstrated using muscle-specific insulin receptor knockout mice (MIRKO), where the mice displayed normal exercise-stimulated glucose uptake, but had no response to insulin (Wojtaszewski et al., 1999). After physical activity, an increase in appetite occurs to regain energy stores. Hypothalamic AMPK activity is increased during fasting and decreased during refeeding (Minokoshi et al., 2004). Activation of AMPK in hypothalamus causes increased food intake in rats (Andersson et al., 2004). An intake of carbohydrates will result in an increase in insulin, a decrease in leptin secretion, and inhibition of AMPK-activity. Insulin was shown to inhibit and leptin was shown to activate hypothalamic AMPK activity (Minokoshi et al., 2004), (Minokoshi et al., 2002).

Other hormones regulating appetite and stimulating AMPK activity are adiponectin (Yamauchi *et al.*, 2002), ghrelin, and resistin. Ghrelin stimulates hypothalamic and heart AMPK activity and inhibits adipose and liver AMPK activity (Kola *et al.*, 2005; Kola, 2008). The role of resistin is more complex. Resistin induces insulin resistance and stimulates hepatic glucose production (Banerjee *et al.*, 2004), but it also activates hypothalamic AMPK (Vazquez *et al.*, 2008).

Since AMPK-mediated glucose uptake is insulin-independent and patients with type 2 diabetes have normal AMPK α 2 activity, as well as normal expression of the α 1, α 2 and β 1 isoforms (Musi *et al.*, 2001), a new pharmaceutical compound mimicking AMPK effects in the peripheral metabolic tissues, but avoiding the CNS, would be of great value for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Therefore a further understanding of AMPK downstream signalling and biological responses is of importance.

1.5.1.5 Validation of AMPK as target for drug development using transgenic and knock-out mice models.

There are many different models of genetically manipulated mouse strains regarding AMPK and its subunits (Long & Zierath, 2006). Glucose homoeostasis was unaltered in AMPK $\alpha 1^{-/-}$ mice, but AMPK $\alpha 2^{-/-}$ mice displayed elevated plasma glucose levels, insulin resistance, impaired glucose tolerance and reduced muscle glycogen synthesis (Viollet *et al.*, 2003). The same knockout mouse model was heavier and had increased fat mass compared with wild-type mice fed a high fat diet, despite no differences in food intake (Villena *et al.*, 2004). The $\alpha 2$ subunit has been studied using several models, including overexpression of AMPK $\alpha 2$ dominant negative subunit in skeletal and cardiac muscle (Mu *et al.*, 2001), muscle-specific overexpression of dominant negative AMPK $\alpha 2$ (Fujii *et al.*, 2005), liver-specific AMPK $\alpha 2$ knock-out (Andreelli

et al., 2006). All these models have deteriorations in glucose homeostasis. Deletion of LKB1 in either liver (Shaw *et al.*, 2005) or skeletal muscle (Sakamoto *et al.*, 2005) provides evidence for the importance of LKB1 in contraction-induced glucose uptake and glucose homeostasis. There are different knock-out and transgenic mice regarding the γ 3 subunit (Barnes *et al.*, 2004). The total AMPK γ 3 knock-out resulted in blunted AICAR-induced skeletal muscle glucose uptake and impaired glycogen resynthesis after two hours of swimming. Skeletal muscle specific overexpression of the wild-type form of the AMPK γ 3 was without effect on the metabolic phenotype, but overexpression of a mutant form of the AMPK γ 3 subunit (AMPK γ 3 R225Q mutant) resulted in impaired AICAR-stimulated glucose transport and improved insulin sensitivity after high fat diet.

1.5.1.6 Chemical validation of AMPK as target for drug development

AMPK can be activated physiologically, by exercise and also pharmacologically, by chemical substances such as AICAR (Figure 6) (Sullivan *et al.*, 1994), mitochondrial toxins (Hayashi *et al.*, 2000; Fujii *et al.*, 2005), A-769662 (Cool *et al.*, 2006; Goransson *et al.*, 2007), metformin (Zhou *et al.*, 2001) and thiazolidinediones (Fryer *et al.*, 2002a). Conversely, the compound 6-[4-(2-Piperidin-1-yl-ethoxy)-phenyl)]-3-pyridin-4-yl-pyrrazolo[1,5-a]-pyrimidine (Compound C) is an inhibitor of AMPK (Fryer *et al.*, 2002b).

1.5.1.6.1 <u>AICAR</u>

AICAR is transported into the cell by the adenosine transporter and then transformed by the enzyme adenosine kinase to 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide (ZMP), which is an analogue of 5'- AMP. An increased ratio of ZMP/ATP activates AMPK (Corton *et al.*, 1995; Holmes *et al.*, 1999). Infusion of AICAR promotes GLUT-4 translocation in rat skeletal muscle (Bergeron *et al.*, 1999). Rats injected with AICAR for 5 days also have increased GLUT-4, hexokinase and glycogen content in skeletal muscle (Holmes *et al.*, 1999). AICAR is a non-selective AMPK activator, but can be used as a tool to study AMPK signalling and the role of AMPK in the metabolic balance. The limitation with AICAR is that it activates all enzymes directly activated by AMP (Fujii *et al.*, 2006) and it can also have systemic effects that are not linked to the enhancement of AMPK (Young *et al.*, 1996).

AICAR was shown to be well-tolerated in young healthy men (100 mg/kg, iv and po). AICAR has low protein binding (< 1%), poor oral bioavailability (<5%), a half life (t¹/₂) of 2-3 hours after an intravenous injection and is metabolized in the kidneys (8%). The AMPK metabolite ZMP accumulates and therefore the t¹/₂ is prolonged (Dixon *et al.*, 1991). AICAR is acutely well-tolerated in male NMRI mice after dosing up to 125 mg/kg (ip), (Vincent *et al.*, 1996). These normoglycaemic mice became hypoglycaemic with the two higher doses (250 and 500 mg/kg) and the blood lactate level was increased more than six times at the higher dose. AICAR is in phase I study for the treatment of type 2 diabetes (Study number: 426758) and in phase I and II (expected to be completed December 2009) for the treatment of chronic lymphocyte leukaemia (Study number: NCT00559624).



Figure 6. Chemical structure of AICAR.

1.5.2 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1

1.5.2.1 Glucocorticoids

Cortisol is a glucocorticoid, produced and secreted from the adrenal cortex, which is a part of the adrenal glands. Glucocorticoids have gained this name because of their ability to stimulate gluconeogenesis. Glucocorticoids mobilise amino acids from skeletal muscle and increase liver enzymes, which convert amino acids into glucose. Elevated levels of cortisol cause a moderate decrease in the rate of glucose utilisation. Cortisol also has effects on lipid metabolism by increasing the mobilisation of fatty acids from adipose tissue, which in turn increases the concentration of free fatty acids in the plasma. High level of cortisol is needed in stress situations and starvation, when the body needs glucose for survival. The secretion of cortisol is controlled by adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), which in turn is secreted from the anterior pituitary gland. ACTH release is controlled by corticotrophin-releasing factor (CRF) produced in hypothalamus. Cortisol has an inhibitory effect on CRF. This is called the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. Cortisol binds to the glucocorticoid receptor (GR), which is expressed in almost all cells of the body.

The concentration of cortisol is also controlled by the enzyme 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11 β HSD) 1, which is mainly expressed in liver, adipose and brain. 11 β HSD1 regulates how inactive glucocorticoids (cortisone, 11-dehydrocorticosterone) can be transformed to the active form (cortisol, corticosterone) (Almelung, 1953). 11 β HSD2 regulates the opposite reaction (i.e. inactivates cortisol) and the enzyme is mainly expressed in kidney, placenta and brain. Cortisol can also bind to mineralocorticoid receptors (MR) and therefore it is of importance that cortisol is metabolised by 11 β HSD2 in tissues where aldosterone is active. Aldosterones most important function is to reabsorb sodium and water and to maintain the blood pressure.

There are differences in the structures of active and inactive glucocorticoids in humans and mice (Figure 7). The difference is only a hydroxyl-group, but this has resulted in different names: cortisol and cortisone for humans and corticosterone and 11β -dehydrocorticosterone for mice.



Figure 7. Human cortisol and mouse corticosterone.

1.5.2.2 Biological validation of 11βHSD1 as a drug target

Patients with obesity and type 2 diabetes have elevated intracellular levels of glucocorticoids (Rask *et al.*, 2001). Transgenic mice overexpressing 11 β HSD1-selectivity in adipose tissue develop type 2 diabetes and visceral obesity (Masuzaki *et al.*, 2001), conversely 11 β HSD1 knock-out mice display a favourable phenotype with normoglycaemia and normal weight (Kotelevtsev *et al.*, 1997; Morton *et al.*, 2001; Morton *et al.*, 2004). 11 β HSD1 knock-out mice are resistant to diet induced obesity, have improved glucose and insulin tolerance and demonstrate favourable changes in cytokine expression, including a doubling in circulating adiponectin levels. Another transgenic mouse overexpressing HSD type 2 in adipose tissue, and thereby inhibiting corticosterone exposure intracellularly, has improved insulin tolerance and glucose tolerance compared with wild-type littermates when fed a high fat diet (Kershaw *et al.*, 2005).

1.5.2.3 Adiponectin

Adiponectin is an adipocytokine that is exclusively secreted from adipose tissue into the circulation (Scherer et al., 1995). The adiponectin receptor, AdipoR1 is ubiquitously present and most abundantly expressed in skeletal muscle, whereas AdipoR2 is predominantly expressed in liver (Yamauchi et al., 2003; Kadowaki & Yamauchi, 2005). There is a negative correlation between adiponectin levels and fat mass (Arita et al., 1999), which is in contrast to leptin (Gil-Campos et al., 2004). The same group observed a negative correlation between insulin and adiponectin in prepubertal children (Gil-Campos et al., 2004). Patients with type 2 diabetes have lower adiponectin levels than age and BMI-matched nondiabetic subjects (Hotta et al., 2000). Similarly, in obesity patients, plasma adiponectin levels are reduced compared to lean control subjects, and further reduced in patients with both obesity and type 2 diabetes (Yu et al., 2002). An infusion of adiponectin to diet-induced obese mice ameliorated the hyperglycaemia and the hyperinsulinaemia induced by the diet (Yamauchi et al., 2001). In vitro stimulation of muscle strips from type 2 diabetic patients with adiponectin improved insulin-stimulated glucose transport (Kuoppamaa et al., 2008). High adiponectin levels are associated with a lower risk of developing type 2 diabetes, after adjusting for confounding factors, in apparently healthy individuals (Spranger et al., 2003). The mRNA expression of adiponectin is lower in ob/ob mice and obese humans (Hu et al., 1996). The reduction is between 50-80% for humans with a body mass index (BMI) of $\sim 39 \text{ kg/m}^2$ compared with a normal BMI (Hu *et al.*, 1996). Thus adiponectin's physiological role is apparently associated with normal and improved glucose homeostasis.

1.5.2.4 Adiponectin in mouse models of 11 BHSD

Mice overexpressing 11 β HSD1 in adipose tissue have increased levels of corticosterone and develop visceral obesity with concomitant low expression of adiponectin in mesenteric fat (Masuzaki *et al.*, 2001). 11 β HSD1 knock-out mice have elevated levels of adiponectin in epididymal adipose tissue (Morton *et al.*, 2004). Conversely, transgenic mice over-expressing 11 β HSD2 in adipose tissue have increased expression of adiponectin (Kershaw *et al.*, 2005).

1.5.2.5 Validation of 11β HSD1-inhibitors as a target for drug development using chemical substances.

Carbenoxolone is a non-selective 11 β HSD-inhibitor, which increased hepatic insulin sensitivity in healthy volunteers and in nonobese type 2 diabetic patients (Walker *et al.*, 1995; Andrews *et al.*, 2003). Several selective mouse inhibitors of 11 β HSD1 show multiple favourable effects on the metabolic phenotype (Alberts *et al.*, 2002; Alberts *et al.*, 2003; Hermanowski-Vosatka *et al.*, 2005; Wang *et al.*, 2006; Lloyd *et al.*, 2009). The 11 β HSD1-inhibitor BVT2733 was shown to ameliorate the blood glucose level and serum insulin in KKA^y mice after 7-days infusion with an osmotic mini-pump (Alberts *et al.*, 2002), mainly through inhibition of 11 β HSD1 in the liver (Alberts *et al.*, 2003). The same substance was effective in treating hyperglycaemia after oral administration in ob/ob, db/db and KKA^y mice (Alberts *et al.*, 2003; Wang *et al.*, 2006). Another 11 β HSD1-inhibitor produced by Merck (Compound 544) lowered glucose and insulin levels in diet-induced obese mice (Hermanowski-Vosatka *et al.*, 2005). The 11 β HSD inhibitor BVT116429 (Figure 8) was produced by Biovitrum AB (Stockholm, Sweden) in collaboration with Amgen (Ca, USA), and tested *in vivo* in study III. BVT116429 has its main effect in adipose tissue.



Figure 8. BVT116429 (also named compound 2922 in some publications).

2 AIMS

The major aims of this thesis are:

- 1. To investigate the acute and chronic effects of AICAR on glucose uptake in skeletal muscle, as well as whole body peripheral insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis in KKA^y-CETP mice (STUDY I).
- 2. To investigate the acute and chronic effects of AICAR on glucose uptake in skeletal muscle and glucose homeostasis, with emphasis on biomarkers in ob/ob mice (STUDY II).
- 3. To investigate the association between adiponectin and insulin sensitivity after inhibition of the enzyme 11β HSD 1 (STUDY III).

3 EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

3.1 ANIMALS

The regional animal ethical committee in Stockholm or Uppsala approved all experimental procedures. Upon arrival at the animal facilities, the animals were placed in individual cages under 12-h light/12-h dark cycle. Room temperature was maintained at $21 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C or $22 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C and humidity at 50%, depending on the different animal facilities. Individual cages are stressful for the animals, but this form of housing was chosen because individual food consumption was measured. Individual cages were also needed for the animals with permanent catheters in vena cava since the littermates tend to chew on the outer part of the catheter. The animals were provided nesting material and chewing sticks. Animals had free access to food and water except during fasting. Lean (C57BL) and ob/ob mice (male, 8-10 wks old, B&K Universal, Sollentuna, Sweden) received normal rodent diet R34 (Lactamin, Vadstena, Sweden). KKA^y (male, 10 weeks, Charls River, Japan) and KKA^y-CETP mice (female, 4-6 month old, Pharmacia Corporation, Kalamazoo, MI, USA) received high fat diet (32.5 kcal% fat, D12451, Research diets, NJ, USA) since high fat food accentuates the progress of type 2 diabetes.

In accordance with the tradition in pharmacological studies, male mice were used in study II and III. Female mice were used in study I due to accessibility at the time. With experience from both genders, females might be preferable, since their complications from type 2 diabetes are less severe then for male KKA^y-CETP mice. They have less wounds and tumours, probably due to slightly less aggravated illness. Female KKA^y-CETP mice have lower basal blood glucose and basal insulin values than males, although both parameters are significantly elevated. In the studies with KKA^y and KKA^y-CETP mice, animals were grouped based on blood glucose. This was done to minimise the variation between the groups.

3.2 TREATMENTS

3.2.1 AICAR (Study I and II)

3.2.1.1 Acute treatment

Non-fasted KKA^y-CETP mice received an intraperitoneal (ip) injection of either AICAR (500 or 1000 mg/kg, 10 ml/kg, Sigma) or vehicle (saline). Tail blood samples were collected at 0, 30, 60 120 and 240 minutes after ip injection to measure blood glucose (Accutrend glucometer, Accutrend, Roche). Non-fasted lean (C5BL) and ob/ob mice were dosed by subcutaneous (sc) injection, with AICAR (1000 mg/kg, 10 ml/kg, Sigma) or vehicle (saline) and blood glucose was measured after 1, 2, 3 and four hours (tail blood, One-Touch glucose monitor, Lifescan, Milpitas, Calif, USA).

3.2.1.2 Long term treatment

KKA^y-CETP mice were dosed with intraperitoneal injections with AICAR (100, 300, or 500 mg/kg/day) or saline at 0900 for 7 days. Blood glucose was monitored by Accutrend glucometer using tail blood sample every day before dosing and 24 hours after the last dose. The lean (C57BL) and ob/ob mice were untreated, or dosed by subcutaneous injection, with AICAR (1000 mg/g body, 10 ml/kg) or saline,

administered at 09:00 for 7 days. Physiological testing of animals assigned to the long-term dosing study was performed 24 hours after last treatment.

3.2.2 11βHSD1-inhibitors (Study III)

One set of KKA^y mice were administered the 11 β HSD-inhibitor BVT116429 (3, 10 or 30 mg/kg), or rosiglitazone (5 mg/kg) or vehicle by oral gavage (po) once daily at 17:00 for 10 days. The other set of KKA^y mice were administered the 11 β HSD-inhibitor BVT2733 (30, 100 or 300 mg/kg), rosiglitazone (5 mg/kg) or vehicle by oral gavage twice daily at 07:00 and 17:00 for eight days. BVT116429 and BVT2733 were produced by chemists at Biovitrum AB (Stockholm, Sweden) or Amgen (Ca, USA).

3.3 CLINICAL CHEMISTRY

Blood samples were kept on ice for 30 minutes before centrifugation at 2000-3000 g for 10 minutes and subsequently stored in tubes at -70°C until analysis. Serum glucose concentrations were measured spectrophotometrically (Cobas Mira, Roche, Montclair, N. J., USA) using a commercially available Glucose GHD Unimate 7 kit (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) for study I. For study III, plasma glucose was analysed with a UV method (Hitachi 912 Multianalyzer, Roche Diagnostics, Switzerland). Plasma triglycerides and plasma FFA were analysed with an enzymatic fluorometric method NEFAC (WAKO, Neuss, Germany) in study I and II and in study III with Cobas Mira using reagent kit of Triglycerides/GB (Boehringer Mannheim, Indianapolis, Ind., USA) was used. HbA1c, HDL and LDL cholesterol, triglycerides and free fatty acids were analysed with an enzymatic colorimetric method (Hitachi 912 Multianalyser) in study III. Serum adiponectin and leptin were analysed with radioimmuno assays (Linco Research, St.Louis, MO, USA). Serum insulin was analysed using an enzyme-linked immunoassay (ELISA, Mercodia, Uppsala, Sweden). A 24 hour urine sample was collected from the mice that had received either AICAR (500 mg/kg/day) or vehicle treatment using metabolic cages after the last dosing. The urine glucose content was measured by Cobas Mira and Glucose GHD Unimate 7. The lipid profile was analysed by column chromatography using fast protein liquid chromatography on superpose-6B column (Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden) (Castle et al., 1998). Plasma alanine aminotransferase (ALAT) was determined spectrophotometrically (Cobas Mira) using a commercially available ALT Unimate 3 kit (Roche).

3.3.1 Clinical chemistry (Study I and II)

Blood glucose was monitored before the daily dosing in non-fasted mice. Twenty-four hours after the last treatment, animals were anaesthetised (Isoflurane, Baxter, IL, USA) and blood samples for plasma analysis were taken from orbital sinus.

3.3.2 Clinical chemistry (Study III)

Blood samples were taken from anesthetised (Forene, Abbot, Chicago, USA) mice via heart puncture or orbital plexus, after a four hour fast on the final day of the study.

3.4 BODY WEIGHT, FOOD INTAKE AND BODY COMPOSITION

Body weight was measured on the first and last day of the study and the total food intake was recorded. Fat pads were dissected at the end of the studies to compare fat content between the groups. For the KKA^y mice, body composition was analysed by

dual energy X-ray absorptimetry (DEXA, Lunar Piximus densitometer) (Study III). In ob/ob mice, epididimus fat pad weight and body fat as measured by DEXA analysis is positively correlated (unpublished data).

3.5 TISSUES

The epididymus fat pad and liver were dissected, weights were measured, and tissue samples were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70°C. Lipid extracts were prepared by homogenizing frozen liver in Heptan:Isopropanol 3:2, Tween 1% (1:10) and then analysed with an enzymatic colorimetric test (Roche).

3.6 BASAL AND INSULIN-STIMULATED GLUCOSE UPTAKE IN SKELETAL MUSCLE

3.6.1 Muscle incubation in non-treated animals

Mice were anaesthetised by an injection (ip, 0.02 ml/g body weight) of 2.5 % Avertin (tribromoethanol, tertamyl alcohol, Aldrich, Milwaukee, Wis., USA), and isolated soleus and extensor digitum longus (EDL) muscles were excised and utilised for *in vitro* incubations. All incubation media were prepared from stock solution of Krebs-Hensleits buffer (KHB) that contained hydroxyethylpiperazineethanesulphoric acid (HEPES; 5 mM; pH 7.2, 30°C) and 0.1% BSA (RIA Grade, Sigma, St. Louis, Mo., USA). The gas phase throughout all incubations was maintained at 95% O₂/5% CO₂. Soleus and EDL muscles were incubated for 30 minutes at 30°C in KHB supplemented with 20 mM mannitol (pre-incubation media). Muscles were incubated in the absence or presence of 120 nM insulin (Actrapid, Novo Nordisk, Bagsvaerd, Denmark), 2 mM AICAR, or a combination of insulin (120 nM) and AICAR (2 mM).

3.6.2 Muscle incubation in pre-treated animals

One day after the final dosing of the 7-day AICAR treatment regime, mice were anaesthetised with 2.5 % Avertin (ip injection, 0.02 ml/g body weight). Soleus and EDL muscles were dissected and transferred to vials containing 1 ml of incubation media prepared from a pre-gassed (95% $O_2/5\%$ CO₂) Krebs Henseleit buffer supplemented with HEPES (5 mM; pH 7.2, 30°C) and 0.1% BSA in a shaking water bath (30°C). Muscles were incubated for 30 minutes in KHB containing 5 mM glucose and 15 mM mannitol, with or without added insulin (Actrapid, 120 nM).

3.6.3 Assessment of glucose transport activity.

Following pre-incubation, muscles were incubated for 10 minutes at 30°C, in KHB containing 20 mM mannitol and the specific additions as described for each experiment. This incubation step was included to rinse glucose from the extracellular space of the muscle. Glucose transport was assessed at 30°C using 2-deoxyglucose (Hansen *et al.*, 1995). Muscles were incubated for 20 minutes in KHB containing 1 mM 2-deoxy-[1, 2, ³H] glucose (2.5 μ Ci/mmol), and 19 mM mannitol (26.3 μ Ci/mmol). 2-deoxyglucose uptake reflects glucose transport and not metabolism in mouse skeletal muscle when used under these conditions (Hansen *et al.*, 1995). Muscles were processed as previously described (Wallberg-Henriksson *et al.*, 1987). Glucose transport activity is expressed as micromoles of glucose analogue accumulated per ml of intracellular water per hour.

3.7 PHOSPHOTYROSINE-ASSOCIATED PHOSPHATIDYLINOSITOL 3-KINASE

Soleus or EDL muscles were incubated for 30 minutes in basal KHB media (no insulin or AICAR present). Thereafter, muscles were incubated for 6 minutes in the absence or presence of insulin (120 nM). Muscles were homogenised in 500 µl lysis buffer as described (Saad *et al.*, 1993), solubilised by continuous stirring for 1 hour at 4°C and thereafter centrifugation (12 000 g for 10 minutes). Protein was determined in the supernatant using a commercial kit (Bio-Rad, Richmond, Calif., USA). The supernatant (500µg) was immunoprecipitated overnight (4°C) with an anti-phosphotyrosine antibody (Transduction Laboratories, Lexington, Ky., USA) coupled to protein A-sepharose (Pharmacia). The PI 3-kinase activity was assessed directly on the protein A-sepharose beads as described (Krook *et al.*, 1997). The bands corresponding to PI 3-phosphate were quantified using a PhosphoImager (Bio-Rad).

3.8 GLYCOGEN AND TRIGLYCERIDE ANALYSIS

Gastrocnemicus muscle and liver were removed from anaesthetised mice and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen. Glycogen content was measured fluorometrically on extracts of muscle or liver as described (Wallberg-Henriksson *et al.*, 1987). Results are expressed as μ mol glucose per g wet weight. Muscle and liver triglycerides were extracted using chloroform-methanol. Free glycerol was measured using Sigma triglyceride reagent (Sigma) and the reaction was read using a spectrophotometer (540 nm). Results are expressed as μ mol per g wet weight.

3.9 PROTEIN EXPRESSION STUDIES

Portions of the gastrocnemius muscle were polytron homogenized in 1.5 ml ice-cold HES buffer (10 mM HEPES, 1 mM EDTA, sucrose 250 mM, pH7.4) after which the muscle homogenates were subjected to centrifugation for 10 minutes at 12 000 g (4°C). The supernatant was used to assess GLUT4, hexokinase II or glycogen synthase protein content. Aliquots of muscle homogenates containing 20 µg of protein were suspended in Leammli buffer. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE (10% resolving gel), transferred to polyvinylidenedifluoride membranes (Millipore, Bedford, Mass., USA), and blocked with 5% non-fat milk. Membranes were incubated in primary antibody over night at 4°C. The polyclonal antibodies used for the detection of hexokinase II and glycogen synthase were generous gifts from Dr. O. Pedersen (Steno Memorial Hospital, Gentofte, Denmark). Each polyclonal antibody was generated by immunising rabbits with a synthetic peptide homologous to the first nine amino acids in the COOHterminus of the respective protein (Vestergaard et al., 1993; Vestergaard et al., 1995). GLUT4 protein expression was assessed using a polyclonal antibody raised against the COOH-terminal peptide of GLUT4 (Biogenesis, Poole, UK), diluted 1:1000 in phosphate-buffered saline (pH 7.4) containing 1% milk. Membranes were washed in TBST (10 mM TRIS, 140 mM NaCl, 0.02% Tween 20, pH 7.6), incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody and washed in TBST. Protein bands were visualised by enhanced chemiluminescence and quantified by densitometry.

3.10 NUCLEAR EXTRACTS PREPARATION

Nuclear extracts from gastrocnemius skeletal muscle were prepared as previously described (Mora & Pessin, 2000) with minor modifications. Tissues were pulverised in liquid nitrogen and homogenised in 10 volumes (wt/v) of buffer A (250 mM sucrose, 10 mM HEPES, ph 7.6, 25 mM KCl, 1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0.015 mM spermine, 0.1 mM PMSF, 2 µg/ml each aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin A, and 6 µg/ml each L-1-tosylamido-2-phenylethyl chloromethyl ketone and 1-chloro-3-tosylamido-7amino-2-heptanone) with 20 strokes of a pellet pestle (Kebo lab, Sweden) in eppendorf tubes and filtered through a gauze. The homogenate was centrifuged 10 minutes at 3900 g at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of buffer A and homogenised 10 seconds by a pellet pestle with motor. The homogenate was layered over one-half volume of buffer B, 81 M sucrose, 10 mM HEPES, pH 7.6, 25 mM KCl, 1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0.15 mM spermine, 0.1 mM PMSF, 2 µg/ml each aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin A, and 6 µg/ml each L-1-tosylamido-2-phenylethyl chloromrthyl ketone and 1-chloro-3-tosylamido-7-amino-2-heptanone) and centrifuged at 3900 g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in buffer A/glycerol (9:1, w/w) and layered over one-third volume of buffer B/glycerol (9:1, w/w). The gradient was centrifuged at 48 000 g for 30 minutes at 4°C. The semi-purified nuclear pellet was resuspended in 100 µl of nuclear extraction buffer (10 mM HEPES, pH 7.6, 400 mM KCl, 3 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 1 mM PMSF). Nuclear proteins were extracted on ice for 30 minutes and the samples were centrifuged at 13 000 g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was diluted four times in nuclear extraction buffer omitting KCl, assayed for total protein using Bradford assay kit (Bio-Rad) and stored at -70°C.

3.11 ELECTOPHORETIC MOBILITY SHIFT ASSAY

The myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2) DNA-binding site oligonucleotide was commercially available (Santa Cruz biotechnology, Santa Cruz, Calif., USA). The oliogonucleotide was end-labelled with T4 polynucleotide kinase. The probes (0.5 ng) were incubated with 2 μ g of nuclear extracts in a 20- μ l reaction containing 1 μ g poly (dI–dC), 40 mM KCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 15 mM HEPES, pH 7.9, 1 mM EDTA, 0.05 mM DTT, and 5% glycerol for 20 minutes at room temperature. For competition studies, the extract was pre-incubated with a 10-fold molar excess of unlabeled oligonucleotide for 5 minutes before addition of radiolabelled probe. The samples were processed (200 V for 2 h 4°C) on non-denaturation 6% polyacrylamide (38:1 acrylamide/bisacrylamide) gels buffered with TRIS borate/EDTA (TBE, 22 mM TRIS, 22 mM boric acid, and 0.5 mM EDTA). The dried gels were analysed in PhosphoImager.

3.12 ORAL GLUCOSE TOLERANCE TEST

3.12.1 Study I and II

After four hours fasting, glucose (3 g/kg, 10 ml/kg, Fresenius Kabi, Uppsala, Sweden) was administered orally by gavage to saline- or AICAR-treated conscious mice. Blood was sampled via the tail vein at 0, 30, 60 and 120 minutes after insulin or glucose administration. Blood glucose was analysed using a One Touch glucose monitor or Accutrend glucometer.

3.12.2 Study III

An oral glucose tolerance test was performed after an overnight fast and two hours post-dosing on day seven of the 10-day experiment with 11 β HSD-inhibitor BVT116429 (3, 10 or 30 mg/kg), or rosiglitazone (5 mg/kg). Mice were given an oral dose of glucose (2 g/kg; 10 ml/kg Fresenius Kabi, Uppsala, Sweden) and blood samples (tail cut, 25 μ l) for glucose (Accu-check) and insulin (ELISA, Mercodia) were taken immediately before the glucose load at 0, 15, 30, 60 and 120 minutes.

3.13 INSULIN TOLERANCE TEST

3.13.1 Study I and II

Insulin tolerance tests were performed in KKA^y-CETP mice after 7 days treatment with AICAR (500 mg/kg) or saline. Mice were injected with insulin (ip, 10 U/kg) 24 hours after the last dosing. Blood glucose was measured from the tail using a Accutrend glucometer at 0, 30, 60 and 120 minutes after insulin or glucose administration.

3.13.2 Study III

An insulin tolerance test was performed after a four hour fast on day seven. Two hours after the daily dose of substance or vehicle, mice were given an intraperitoneal dose of insulin (1 U/kg) and blood samples (tail cut, 5 μ l) were obtained after 0, 15, 30, 60 and 120 minutes for glucose analysis (Accu-check). For data analysis, glucose concentrations were normalised to the concentration at time zero and the rate of glucose elimination was calculated by fitting the data to a single exponential equation (y = y_0e^{-kt}).

3.14 EUGLYCAEMIC CLAMP TECHNIQUES

3.14.1 Clamp techniques after treatment with AICAR

The acute effect of AICAR on glucose clearance and endogenous glucose production was examined by an euglycaemic clamp using KKA^y-CETP mice not exposed to AICAR. The chronic effect of AICAR was evaluated by the hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamp in mice after the 7-day treatment with AICAR or vehicle. Two days before the clamp study, a catheter was inserted into the left jugular vein of the mouse during isoflurane anesthetization. Euglycaemic- or hyperinsulinaemic-euglycaemic clamps were then performed using conscious, unrestrained mice fasted for 6 hours. After adapting the clamp conditions, KKA^y-CETP mice received a constant infusion of D-[3-³H]-glucose (Am Radiolabeled Chem, Inc.) at a dose of 0.5 μ Ci/100 g/min for 150 minutes. Sixty minutes after starting the tracer infusion, AICAR (0.2 mg/100 g/min) or insulin (5 mU/100 g/min) was infused intravenously for 90 minutes and the blood glucose was maintained at the same level as basal by adjusting the glucose infusion rate. Blood samples of 50 μ l were collected from the tail at 60 and 150 minutes of tracer infusion to determine blood glucose, plasma insulin and D-[3-³H]-glucose radioactivity.

3.14.2 Clamp after treatment with 11βHSD-inhibitor

Catheters were placed into the right jugular vein of male KKA^y mice under anaesthesia, and the animals were allowed to recover for three days. After dosing vehicle or BVT116429 (30 mg/kg, p.o.) once daily for eight days, animals were

fasted for 6 hours. At the start of the clamp experiment, all animals were infused with radiolabelled glucose tracer (2.5 μ Ci/kg/min) and 70 minutes later, the insulin infusion was started at a rate of 12.5 mU/kg/min. Blood glucose concentrations were monitored thereafter and glucose was infused from a 30% solution as required to maintain euglycaemia. The experiment was terminated after 160 minutes (90 minutes after the insulin infusion was commenced) and animals were euthanized. Data from the animals was included in the final analysis if there was no more than 20% variation in the basal and clamped glucose levels, if there was at least a two-fold increase in the blood insulin concentration upon insulin infusion, if the specific activity of the tracer glucose was at least 40 000 cpm per mg glucose in whole blood and if the catheter was shown to be correctly inserted when the experiment was terminated.

3.14.3 Calculation of endogenous glucose production

Glucose disposal rate (GDR) was expressed as the ratio between infusion rate (cpm/min) and the activity concentration in blood (cpm/mg). Under basal conditions prior to clamp, endogenous glucose production (EGP) equals GDR. Under clamped conditions, EGP was calculated as the difference between GDR and glucose infusion rate (GIR).

3.15 11 β HSD1 EX VIVO ASSAY

DMEM (GIBCO BRL, 11965-092) media (37°C) was supplemented with NADPH (Sigma, Cat# N1630) and cortisone (Sigma, Cat# C2755) to a final concentration of 100 μ M and 1 μ M, respectively. Supplemented media (500 μ l) was dispensed to each well of a 24-well plate (Falcon, BD, Cat# 353047). Frozen tissue was dissected into 30-40 mg aliquots (weights recorded) and directly placed in the pre-warmed media. Plates were incubated at 37°C for 3 hours with substrate, and media subsequently collected (without the tissue pieces) by transferring the supernatant to a fresh 24-well plate (samples stored at -80° C until ready for assay). A cortisol ELISA (Correlate-EIA kit, Assay Designs Inc. Cat# 901-071) was performed as suggested by the manufacturer with appropriate sample dilution (usually 1:10 for mouse adipose tissue).

3.16 VELOCITY SEDIMENTATION OF SERUM SAMPLES

Sucrose gradients (5-40%) in 10 mM HEPES, pH 8.0, 125 mM NaCl were poured stepwise in 2 ml thin walled ultracentrifuge tubes (Becton-Dickinson) and allowed to equilibrate overnight at 4°C. Following layering of the sample on the top of the tube (diluted 1:10 with 10 mM HEPES, pH 8.0, 125 mM NaCl), gradients were centrifuged at 55 000 rpm for 4 hours at 4°C in a Beckman Optima XL-80K ultracentrifuge (SW55TI). Gradient fractions (200 μ l) were sequentially retrieved and subjected to Western blot analysis.

3.17 IMMUNOBLOTTING

Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE (non-reducing, non-heat denaturing) and subsequently transferred to PVDF-membranes (BioRad). Membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk in TBST (Tris-buffered saline, 0.1% Tween20). As primary antibody, a rabbit polyclonal antibody against adiponectin was used (Santa Cruz #sc-17044-R). As secondary antibody, a horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated goat antirabbit antibody was used (Upstate #12-348). Blots were visualised using chemoluminescense, (enhanced chemoluminescense (ECL) Plus detection kit, GE Healthcare).

3.18 ADIPONECTIN ANALYSES IN HUMAN PRIMARY ADIPOCYTES

Pre-adipocytes from human donors (BMI $< 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) were purchased from ZenBio (SP-F-1). Culture medium (PM-1), differentiation medium (DM-2) and adipocyte medium (AM-1) were also from ZenBio. One ampoule of human primary preadipocytes was thawed in a 37°C water bath and subsequently suspended in 10 ml culture medium. An aliquot of cell suspension (30 µl) was transferred to an Eppendorf tube and 15 µl Trypan blue was added. Cells were counted and the viability was calculated. The remaining cell suspension was diluted to a final volume of 78 ml culture medium. Cell suspension aliquots, containing 8-9000 cells, were added per well in 60 wells of a 96-well plate. Cells were differentiated according to the ZenBio-protocol. On the 11th day from the start of differentiation (before the peak of adiponectin secretion), dexamethasone was removed from the medium. The cells were subjected to the following treatments 24 hours later: medium only, 100 nM cortisone, 0.1 µM BVT116429 + 100 nM cortisone, 10 µM BVT116429 + 100 nM cortisone. Cells were incubated for 48 hours, whereafter the medium was transferred to a fresh 96-well plate and stored at -20°C until analysis. The adiponectin levels were analysed with a human adiponectin ELISA kit (CYT350, Chemicon Int.) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

3.19 STATISTICS

Data are expressed as means \pm SEM in all three studies. The *post hoc* analysis is described in the following paragraphs. Significance was accepted at p < 0.05.

3.19.1 Study I

Data were analysed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Neuman-Keules test when comparing more than two groups. A paired or non-paired student's *t*-test was used to distinguish differences between two groups.

3.19.2 Study II

Statistical differences were determined by two-way ANOVA for the treatment-effect on blood glucose and glucose tolerance, and by a one-way ANOVA for glucose transport, biochemical analysis and protein expression studies. When the ANOVA resulted in a significant F-ratio (p < 0.05), the location of the significance was determined with the Fisher-LSD test.

3.19.3 Study III

Results were subjected to a one-way ANOVA followed by Dunett's multiple comparison test, or the non parametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's test. Linear regression analysis was used to determine the relationship between the plasma exposure of BVT116429 and the different functional parameters.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 POTENCY AND PHARMACODYNAMIC ACTIVITY OF BVT116429

BVT116429 is > 250 times more selective for 11 β HSD1 over HSD2 and the inhibition constants for 11 β HSD in human and mouse were found to be 29 mM and 36 mM, respectively in the *in vitro* inhibition assay. Human primary adipose cells were treated with BVT116429 to test the ability to convert cortisone to cortisol and the IC50 was found to be 26 nM. The compound was also found to be more effective in adipose tissue, than in liver tissue (Jean *et al.*, 2007). This could possibly be due to P-glycoprotein transporters, which prevent adequate uptake of BVT116429 into the liver cell.

4.2 GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS

A normal fasting plasma glucose concentration is difficult to define, but it is set to < 6.1 mM by WHO. The American Diabetes Association (ADA) changed their statement from ≤ 6.1 mM (1999) to ≤ 5.6 mM in 2003. Another way of measuring glucose homeostasis is by measuring HbA_{1c}, which reflects the average plasma glucose level over the previous 2–3 months in a single measure. A blood sample for HbA_{1c} analysis can be obtained at any time of the day and does not require any special preparation by the patient, such as fasting. The goal for any treatment of diabetes is to normalise the elevated plasma glucose level and thereby decrease the risk of diabetes complications.

4.2.1 Study I and II

4.2.1.1 Effect on blood glucose after acute treatment with AICAR

Acute AICAR-treatment was followed by blood glucose measurements for up to four hours in lean, ob/ob and KKA^y-CETP mice. Blood glucose was normalised in both diabetic mouse strains and the effect was maintained during the study. The lean mice treated with 1000 mg/kg (sc) of AICAR were hypoglycaemic (2.8 mM) the first hour and blood glucose was normalised after two hours. The highest dose (1000 mg/kg, ip) in the KKA^y-CETP mice was considered to be too high for the long term study. Intraperitoneal injections were used in study I and subcutaneous injections were used in study II where the latter form of administration results in a lower C_{max}. Intraperitoneal injections were tested with both 500 mg/kg and 1000 mg/kg in ob/ob mice but both doses were too effective and resulted in hypoglycaemia.

The glucose lowering effect of AICAR has been studied and confirmed in earlier studies. Normoglucaemic mice were injected with AICAR (250 mg/kg, ip) and the plasma glucose levels was decreased within 15 minutes and remained low for three hours (Vincent *et al.*, 1996). In another study using rats, AICAR was infuced during a euglycaemic clamp. To maintain the normal plasma glucose of 5.3 mM a glucose infusion was needed, indicating an acute plasma glucose lowering effect of AICAR (Bergeron *et al.*, 1999).

4.2.1.2 Effect on plasma parameters after 7-days treatment with AICAR

KKA^y-CETP mice were treated with 100, 300 and 500 mg/kg AICAR (ip) for seven days and blood glucose was monitored once daily. Only the highest dose (500 mg/kg) had a blood glucose lowering effect, which persisted during the whole study (Figure 9). Ob/ob mice treated with 1000 mg/kg AICAR normalised their blood glucose after 7-days treatment. Thus, AICAR-treatment improves the blood glucose level in rodent models of type 2 diabetes.



Figure 9. Chronic effect of AICAR (500 mg/kg) (circles) or vehicle (squares) on blood glucose in KKA^y-CETP mice. Values are given as means \pm SEM, n = 24. All values except day 1 are lower than the corresponding control with at least p < 0.05.

The plasma insulin level was decreased in KKA^y-CETP mice treated with AICAR at doses of either 300 or 500 mg/kg. The 25% reduction in plasma insulin seen in ob/ob mice was not significant. This might be due to the fact that blood glucose was measured in fed mice, since ob/ob mice have meals during the light phase of the day (Ho & Chin, 1988). Lean mice normally consume the main part of their calories in the dark phase (Kurokawa *et al.*, 2000).

KKA^y-CETP mice were put in metabolic cages after 7-days treatment with AICAR and urine volume and glucose concentration were measured. Both the urine volume and the urine glucose concentration were improved. These animals drink extreme amounts of water due to the hyperglycaemia and therefore the untreated animals excreted 4.5 ml in 24 hours, which is approximately ten times more than in normal C57BL mice (Rao *et al.*, 2005).

Alanine aminotransferase (ALAT) is a liver enzyme often used for toxicology measures and provides an indication of liver failure. Interestingly, in humans there is a linear relationship between hip-waste-ratio and ALAT (Illouz *et al.*, 2008). Plasma ALAT was measured in the ob/ob mice in study II and there was no difference between the groups, possibly indicating AICAR did not have any toxic effect on the liver.

Triglycerides, free fatty acids and cholesterol were measured in all mice and surprisingly AICAR-treatment had a detrimental effect on dyslipidaemia. This was also shown in a later study where a 2.5-3-fold increase in serum triglyceride levels was recorded in ob/ob and db/db mice after treatment with AICAR (Halseth et al., 2002). The same group also showed that cholesterol concentration (p < 0.0001) was significantly increased in db/db mice following AICAR treatment. This is not in accordance with the theory of AMPK activation and is in disagreement with several published data. For example, obese Zucker fa/fa rats were infused with AICAR and an acute lowering of both plasma free fatty acids and triglycerides were observed (Bergeron et al., 2001). Streptozotocin-induced type 1 diabetic mice with a defective LDL-receptor were treated with polyphenol, which stimulated AMPK 200 times more than metformin and both serum cholesterol and serum triglycerides were reduced by approximately 50%. (Zang et al., 2006). Moreover, AICAR (0.75 mg/kg) was infused in ten male type 2 diabetic patients and both plasma glucose and free fatty acids were reduced (Boon et al., 2008). Obese Zucker (fa/fa) rats were treated with AICAR for seven weeks and the plasma triglycerides, free fatty acids and HDL were improved (Buhl et al., 2002). Fatty acid oxidation was studied after stimulation with ACIAR in muscles from fed and fasted rats. AICAR increased fatty acid oxidation and decreased malonyl-CoA in fed, but not in overnight-fasted rats (Kaushik et al., 2001).

In the KKA^y-CETP mice, any effect on the lipid profile generally mimics the situation in humans better than other mice strains. However in KKA^y-CETP mice we also noted that AICAR-treatment had a detrimental effect on the lipid profile, with increased VLDL and reduced HDL-cholesterol. The detrimental effect on the lipid profile in our studies might be due to that AICAR is a non-specific AMPK-activator and that it might possess qualities that affect plasma lipid metabolism. Alternativerly this could also be a compensatory effect due to starvation signals, possibly induced by long-term AICAR-treatment. Detrimental effects of AICAR on the blood lipids have been shown after at least 7-days treatment in several models of type 2 diabetes i.e. ob/ob, db/db and KKA^y-CETP mice (Fiedler *et al.*, 2001; Halseth *et al.*, 2002; Song *et al.*, 2002).

4.2.1.3 Effect on oral glucose tolerance after 7-days treatment with AICAR

Glucose tolerance was improved in ob/ob and KKA^y-CETP mice after 7-days treatment with AICAR (Figure 10). This was consistent with an earlier study in obese Zucker (fa/fa) rats with slightly elevated plasma glucose levels. After seven weeks of subcutaneous AICAR injections (500 mg/kg), glucose tolerance was improved (Buhl *et al.*, 2002).



Figure 10. Oral glucose tolerance test (3 mg/kg) after 7-days treatment with vehicle (squares) or AICAR (circles) in KKA^y-CETP mice. Values are means \pm SEM, n = 8, *p < 0.05.

4.2.1.4 Effect on insulin tolerance after 7-days treatment with AICAR

Insulin sensitivity was improved in KKA^y-CETP mice after 7-days treatment with AICAR. This was consistent with reductions in the basal insulin concentration seen in the same model.

4.2.1.5 Effect on endogenous glucose production after acute and 7-days treatment with AICAR in KKA^y-CETP mice

A catheter was inserted into the left jugular vein of the animal two days prior to the study. After six hours of fasting, an acute euglycaemic clamp was performed in non-treated animals. AICAR or vehicle was infused for 90 minutes. The glucose disposal rate was not altered, but the endogenous glucose production was decreased to approximately 50% after AICAR infusion. This is in agreement with a study in ten male type 2 diabetic patients infused with AICAR (0.75 mg/kg), where hepatic glucose production was inhibited (Boon *et al.*, 2008). Similar findings were also shown in obese Zucker fa/fa rats, where endogenous glucose production was suppressed more than 50% after AICAR (10 mg/kg) infusion (Bergeron *et al.*, 2001).

An euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp was performed after 7-days treatment with AICAR. There was no significant difference in the basal glucose disposal rate, but the endogenous glucose production was decreased compared to vehicle-treated animals (85% vs. 35% inhibition of basal values, p < 0.05) during insulin infusion, indicating that insulin sensitivity is increased in AICAR-treated mice (Figure 11).



Figure 11. The endogenous glucose production after 7 days treatment with AICAR in KKA^y-CETP mice. Values are means \pm SEM, n = 6,*p < 0.05 compared with vehicle.

4.2.2 Study III

4.2.2.1 Effect on plasma glucose after treatment with BVT116429

Mice were treated with BVT116429 (3, 10 or 30 mg/kg), rosiglitazone or vehicle once daily for ten days. Fasting blood glucose was reduced after treatment with 30 mg/kg of BVT116429 to the same extent as the positive control rosiglitazone (Figure 12). BVT116429 has also been tested in the Ldlr 3 knockout mouse, a model of diabetes, dyslipedaemia and atherosclerosis, where the metabolic syndrome was improved when the substance was given along with food (Lloyd *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 12. The effect after 10-days treatment with vehicle (white circles), BVT116429 3 mg/kg (black circles), BVT116429 10 mg/kg (white squares), BVT116429 30 mg/kg (black squares) or rosiglitazone 5 mg/kg (white triangles) on plasma glucose. * p < 0.05 and ** p < 0.01 when compared with vehicle.

4.2.2.2 Effect on glucose tolerance after seven days treatment with BVT116429

Animals were orally dosed with 2 g/kg of glucose solution after 12 hours of fasting and two hours after the last dose with BVT116429, plasma glucose and insulin were followed for two hours. Glucose tolerance was unaffected by either BVT116429 or rosiglitazone. Rosiglitazone usually has positive effects on glucose tolerance (Hu *et al.*, 2006). In contrast with our results, BVT116429 has been shown to improve glucose tolerance in Ldlr 3 knockout mice (Hu *et al.*, 2006).

4.2.2.3 Effect on insulin sensitivity after treatment with BVT116429

Treatment with either BVT116429 or rosiglitazone decreased basal insulin levels at day 7, after 12 hours fast, compared with vehicle, indicating increased insulin sensitivity. There was no effect on the basal insulin level after ten days of treatment with either of the substances, which might be due to the shorter time of fasting (four hours instead of twelve). There was a trend of an improvement in insulin sensitivity, as measured by an insulin tolerance test, although this was not statistically (p = 0.07).

4.2.2.4 Effect on endogenous glucose production after 8-days treatment with BVT116429

There was no effect of BVT116429-treatment on hepatic glucose production, which is in line with earlier evidence that the plasma glucose lowering effect of this substance originates from its inhibitory effect in adipose tissue and not in liver. BVT2733, which has another profile and inhibits 11 β HSD1 in the liver, decreases hepatic glucose production in both KKA^y and ob/ob mice (Alberts *et al.*, 2003).

4.2.2.5 Effect on adiponectin after treatment with BVT116429 and BVT2733

Different mouse models with altered 11BHSD1 or 11BHSD2 activity demonstrate elevated adiponectin concentrations (Morton et al., 2004; Kershaw et al., 2005). Adiponectin is a hormone secreted by adipcytes (Scherer *et al.*, 1995) and the circulatory levels are reduced in both obese mice and humans. Ob/ob mice had a 70-90% reduction in adiponectin levels compared with controls and samples from obese humans (BMI = 39 ± 1.4) had a reduction of 50-80% compared with normal lean humans (BMI = 21 ± 0.3) (Hu *et al.*, 1996). The negative correlation between adiponectin and obesity (Hu et al., 1996; Arita et al., 1999) has also been observed in type 2 diabetes patients (Hotta et al., 2000). Moreover, adiponectin was also decreased in diet-induced obese mice, db/db mice and in KKA^y-mice compared with their own controls (Yamauchi et al., 2001). Infusions with adiponectin in these animal models ameliorated hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia (Yamauchi et al., 2001). Therefore it was an interesting task to evaluate the effect of treatments with BVT2733 and BVT116429 in the respect of adiponectin level. As positive control, rosiglitazone was used. This control was not only used for its positive effect on circulating glucose levels, but also for its reported effect on adiponectin. Treatment with thiazolidinediones increases the level of adiponectin in both humans and rodents (Maeda et al., 2001; Yu et al., 2002; Pajvani et al., 2004). Troglitazone increases the plasma adiponectin levels in lean, obese and obese patients with type 2 diabetes (Yu et al., 2002). Another study using troglitazone also showed elevated plasma adiponectin concentrations in humans (Maeda et al., 2001). The same study improved or normalised mRNA level and plasma adiponectin concentration in lean and db/db mice after treatment with troglitazone (Maeda *et al.*, 2001). Total adiponectin levels were elevated after treatment with BVT116429 and rosiglitazone compared with control. This is interesting since patients and mice treated with thiazolidinediones often gain weight and this is normally associated with a lowering of adiponectin levels (Arita *et al.*, 1999). BVT2733 had no effect on serum adiponectin levels after eight days of treatment, despite the effect on plasma HbA_{1c} percentage. This is in accordance with its primary effect in liver. Interestingly, the expression of 11 β HSD and adiponectin has been reported to be similar between healthy subjects and type 2 diabetic patients. Thus, obesity *per se* and not insulin sensitivity may be the major regulator of 11 β HSD expression in adipose tissue (Koistinen *et al.*, 2004).

Adiponectin can exist in several different forms, such as high molecular weight (HMW), medium molecular weight (MMW) and low molecular weight (LMW) forms (Waki *et al.*, 2003). The reduced adiponectin concentration in insulin resistant obese people and type 2 diabetic patients is mostly due to a decrease in the high molecular weight form (Lara-Castro *et al.*, 2006). In our study, both the MMW and the HMW forms of adiponectin were increased after treatment with BVT116429 and rosiglitazone.

To understand the relationship between 11β HSD1 inhibition and an increase in the circulating adiponectin level, primary adipocytes were studied. Adiponectin released from the primary adipocytes into the culture medium increased 1.5-fold, from 13.6 ng/ml in the absence of compound to 20.1 ng/ml in its presence. Thus, inhibition of 11 β HSD activity in adipocytes can increase adiponectin production, suggesting that the effect seen in intact mice is a direct effect on the adipose tissue

Plasma adiponectin is not only decreased in obese people and type 2 diabetic patients, but also in patients with clinical manifestations of coronary artery disease (Ouchi *et al.*, 1999; Kumada *et al.*, 2003). Adiponectin inhibits monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells and reduced their phagocytic activity. This suppresses the accumulation of lipoproteins in the vascular wall, and thereby has an anti-atherogenic and anti-inflammatory effect. Adiponectin also seems to be protective against cardiovascular disease development (Ouchi *et al.*, 1999; Ekmekci & Ekmekci, 2006; Ouchi *et al.*, 2006b, a). Interestingly, women have more plasma adiponectin compared with men (Masuzaki *et al.*, 2001), probably due to differences in fat distribution, with more subcutaneous and less visceral fat. This could be one of the reasons why women have reduced risk for cardiovascular disease. The increase in adiponectin concentration may be an integral component in the mechanism of action of 11 β HSD1-inhibitors, which are active in the adipose tissue. Study III guided the investigators to add serum adiponectin as biomarker in clinical trials of 11 β HSD1-inhibitors.

4.3 BODY WEIGHT, BODY COMPOSITION, FOOD INTAKE AND LEPTIN

4.3.1 Study I and II

AICAR-treatment had no effect on body weight or fat pad weight in lean mice and ob/ob mice, but body weight was reduced in KKA^y-CETP mice. All the animals in the study lost some weight, but the group treated with the highest dose of AICAR (500 mg/kg) lost more weight than the vehicle group (-2.2 \pm 0.3 g vs. -1.1 \pm 0.3 g, p < 0.001). Weight loss was moderate and was probably due to a decrease in food intake (38.3 \pm 2.0 g vs. 43.9 \pm 1.3 g, p<0.05). The decreased food intake and weight loss was probably beneficial for these overeating and obese mice. Ob/ob and db/db mice treated

with 375-500 mg/kg AICAR for eight days did not alter body weight or fat pad weight (Halseth *et al.*, 2002). AICAR injection into the hypothalamus of non-diabetic rats increases food intake (Andersson *et al.*, 2004). The discrepancy in food intake between these studies may possibly be due to the different animal models or to the route of administration of the drug. Activation of AMPK in the hypothalamus has been suggested to enhance orexigenic signals, with concomitant increased food intake and body weight, where as low AMPK activity suppresses these signals under *ad libitum* fed conditions (Minokoshi *et al.*, 2004).

The normal relationship between nutrient intake and protein translation has been descried (Teleman et al., 2008). At the cellular level, after carbohydrate intake, the beta cells in pancreas produce insulin and the increase in insulin secretion results in inhibition of the Forkhead box (FOXO). FOXO promotes the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E binding proteins (4E-PB) and the kinase Lk6. Reduction in FOXO will result in a reduction of 4E-PB and LK6. When 4E-PB and LK6 are inhibited, they in turn cannot inhibit eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) and therefore protein translation continues i.e. food intake will lead to the production of protein (Teleman et al., 2008). Activation of AMPK has the opposite effect and enhances FOXO transcription and thereby inhibits protein translation (Nakashima & Yakabe, 2007; Greer et al., 2009). Activation of AMPK with AICAR inactivates mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) in vitro (Bolster et al., 2002). mTOR has the opposite effects as FOXO on 4E-BP (Teleman et al., 2008). Inhibition of protein synthesis during exercise or fasting is a logical physiological response since it is catabolic. The mechanism for body weight loss in KKA^y-CETP mice could possibly be the result of reduced protein synthesis.

4.3.2 Study III

Food intake was unaltered between the different treatment groups. Rosiglitazone was the only treatment to promote weight gain during the study. This weight gain was expected and it has been reported in other rodent and human studies (Leiter *et al.*, 2006; Yilmaz *et al.*, 2007). The body composition of the animals was determined by DEXA and adiposity was increased only in the rosiglitazone-treated animals.

Leptin is increased in obese subjects (Arita et al., 1999) and in type 2 diabetic patients (Hotta et al., 2000). Interestingly, leptin is also increased after rosiglitazone treatment because of the weight gain (Leiter et al., 2006). A similar increase in leptin levels was also seen in study III. Thus rosiglitazone paradoxically increases body weight and leptin levels, whilst simultaneously enhancing insulin sensitivity. The leptin concentration for animals treated with BVT116429 (30 mg/kg) was apparently higher than for the control animals, although this may reflect a maintenance of the leptin concentration, rather than an increase, since body weight was maintained in this group, whereas the control group lost 4% body weight (Table 1, study III). This could indicate that the degree of adiposity of the animals changes with BVT116429 treatment, although DEXA results indicated that body composition was unchanged between groups. The biological effects of an increased serum leptin concentration could include reduced food intake, of which we observed a tendency (Table 2 in study III), and increased energy expenditure, which would contribute to the compound's beneficial effects. Indeed, work with BVT2733 has provided evidence that energy expenditure is increased in dietary-induced obese C57B1/6J mice after treatment with the compound for 16 days (Wang *et al.*, 2006). In contrast to our study, leptin levels were unaltered in diabetic mice treated with compound 544 (Hermanowski-Vosatka *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, mice with 11 β HSD1 deficiency have reduced mRNA expression and plasma levels of leptin (Morton *et al.*, 2004). Diet-induced obese rats were injected with leptin once daily and glucose tolerance was improved (Yaspelkis *et al.*, 2001). Thus, the changes in leptin concentration in the BVT116429-treated mice may contribute to the metabolic advantages seen in compound-treated animals.

4.3.2.1 Effect on plasma and liver lipids after treatment with BVT116429

Plasma and liver lipids were unaltered in animals treated with BVT116429. Total plasma cholesterol was elevated in animals treated with rosiglitazone, compared with the control group, and this was accompanied by elevations in plasma HDL-cholesterol levels and reductions in liver cholesterol levels.

4.4 EFFECT ON BIOMARKERS AFTER TREATMENT WITH AICAR

4.4.1 Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase

Insulin stimulation results in phosphorylation of the insulin receptor, insulin receptor substrate proteins (IRS) and activation of PI3-kinase in insulin sensitivity tissue such as skeletal muscle. The activation of PI3-kinase is essential for insulin-stimulated GLUT4 translocation. Wortmannin is a chemical substance which can block insulin-activated PI3-kinase and thereby also reduce GLUT 4 translocation. However, wortmannin does not affect exercise-induced GLUT4 translocation (Lee *et al.*, 1995).

The effect on long-term AICAR-treatment on PI3-kinase was studied in normal C57/BL and ob/ob mice. Muscle strips were incubated with a dose of insulin designed to give a sub-maxmal activation of PI3-kinase. The obese ob/ob mice had a marked reduction in insulin-stimulated PI3-kinase activity compared with lean mice, which indicates that ob/ob mice have severe insulin resistance. AICAR treatment did not normalise insulin-stimulated PI3-kinase activity after insulin stimulation in ob/ob mice. Thus, the effect of chronic AICAR treatment on fasting glucose levels and glucose tolerance is unlikely to be caused by improvements in insulin action on PI3-kinase and glucose transport in skeletal muscle.

4.4.2 GLUT4

There are 13 different glucose transporter proteins in humans. GLUT4 is highly expressed in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle, but these tissues also express many of the other transporters. In the skeletal muscle GLUT1, GLUT5 and GLUT12 might also contribute to sugar uptake (Stuart *et al.*, 2000; Stuart *et al.*, 2006). Both insulin and exercise stimulate GLUT4 recruitment to the cell surfaces of muscle and adipose cells (Rose & Richter, 2005; Herman & Kahn, 2006), but in two different ways. After intake of nutrients containing carbohydrates, insulin is produced, the insulin receptor is activated, insulin receptor substrate proteins are phosphorylated and PI3-kinase is activated. PI3-kinase catalyses the conversion of phosphatidylinositol (4,5)P2 to phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)P3, which in turn activates the protein kinase Akt through PDK1 and Rictor/mTor. (Vanhaesebroeck & Alessi, 2000; Sarbassov *et al.*, 2005). Phosphorylation and deactivation of the Akt substrate 160-kD (AS160) by Akt, lead to GLUT4 translocation to the cell membrane and enables glucose uptake (Sakamoto &

Holman, 2008). Muscle contraction also increases AS160 phosphorylation, but by a PI3-kinase independent pathway (Bruss *et al.*, 2005). This AS160 phosphorylation, with concomitant GLUT4 translocation is mediated through the AMPK pathway (Jessen & Goodyear, 2005).

Protein content of GLUT4 was unaltered between lean and ob/ob mice. Regardless of genotype, AICAR-treatment was associated with a 2-fold increase in GLUT4 protein expression (p<0.01). Since AICAR treatment did not affect the activation of PI3-kinase, this indicates that the increase in GLUT4 protein may account for the increase in non-insulin dependent glucose uptake. Similar findings have been reported in rats. In rats dosed with AICAR (1 mg/g, sc) for 5 days, cell-surface GLUT4 content in epitrochlearis muscle is increased 68% after insulin stimulation, and GLUT4 mRNA expression is increased 123% in the white part of the gastrocnemius muscle, compared with control (Buhl *et al.*, 2001). Another group treated rats with AICAR for 5 days and GLUT4 was increased 100% in epitrochlearis muscle and 60% in gastrocnemius (Holmes *et al.*, 1999).

4.4.3 Myocyte enhancer factor 2

Vertebrate skeletal muscle differentiation is regulated by the cooperative interactions of myogenic transcription factors, together with the myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2) (Molkentin *et al.*, 1995; Wang *et al.*, 2001). The myocyte enhancer factor 2 is necessary to increase GLUT4 mRNA expression in skeletal muscle (Thai *et al.*, 1998; Santalucia *et al.*, 2001). In study II, the myocyte enhancer factor 2 was enhanced in tissue from AICAR-treated animals, compared with control (1.9 fold and 2.4-fold for lean and ob/ob, p<0.05). The enhanced MEF2 in the AICAR-treated animals is in accordance with the increased GLUT4 protein content.

4.4.4 Hexokinase II

The phosphorylation of glucose to glucose-6-phosphate (G-6-P) is the first committed step in glucose uptake in skeletal muscle. This reaction is catalyzed by hexokinase (HK). Two hexokinase isoforms, HKI and HKII, are expressed in human skeletal muscle, but only HKII is regulated by insulin. Protein expression of HKII was similar between ob/ob and lean mice. AICAR treatment increased the HKII 2-fold (p<0.001) regardless of genotype. The increase in HKII could imply an increase in glucose uptake; however this was neither seen in study I or study II after 7-days treatment with AICAR. The increase in HKII might be too low to have impact on glucose transport.

4.4.5 Glycogen synthase protein content

Glycogen synthase is the enzyme responsible for adding uridine diphosphate (UDP)glucose to a growing chain of glycogen and is also the rate-determining enzyme for glycogen synthesis. Glycogen synthase protein content was unaltered in skeletal muscle from AICAR-treated mice. This implies that it is not newly formed glycogen, but rather a lower output of glycogen which results in the higher level of glycogen in AICARtreated animals. This is consistent with the acute clamp test, where a decrease in hepatic glucose production was observed (Study I) and the hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamp performed after 7-days treatment with AICAR. This is also in accordance with another study in which the impact of AICAR on glycogen synthesis in basal and insulin-stimulated rat soleus muscle was measured and no changes were seen (Young *et al.*, 1996).

4.5 GLYCOGEN CONTENT IN LIVER AND GASTROCNEMICUS MUSCLE

AICAR-treatment increased the liver glycogen content 50% under fed (p < 0.001) and 70% (p = 0.01) under fasted conditions, in ob/ob mice but not in lean mice. The lack of any effect in lean mice could possibly be explained by the fact that AICAR only has an effect when liver metabolism is impaired. Under fed conditions, AICAR had no effect on glycogen content in gastrocnemicus muscle in either genotype, but under fasted conditions, AICAR treatment increased glycogen content (p < 0.001). This was in accordance with a previous study performed in normal Wistar rats, where 5 days of AICAR treatment (1 mg/kg, sc) increased the glycogen content 105% in red muscle fibers from gastrocnemicus and 24 % in white muscle fibers from the same sample (Buhl et al., 2001). AICAR-treatment seems to restore liver glycogen content when the animals are fasted. The increased liver glycogen content in AICAR-treated ob/ob mice in study II could be an effect of either inhibition of the hepatic glycogen breakdown or increased glycogen formation, or both. The protein content of glycogen synthase was not increased in the same study, indicating that the increased glycogen content in liver and muscle was not a result of increased glycogen formation. On the contrary, the clamp studies from study I provide evidence that the hepatic glucose output is lowered, at least in the acute model or when insulin is infused.

4.6 TRIGLYCERIDE CONTENT IN LIVER AND MUSCLE

The triglyceride content data from gastrocnemius muscle are puzzling. They show that fasting increases the skeletal muscle triglyceride content even in vehicle-treated mice. Triglycerides should normally decrease with fasting (Jaromowska & Gorski, 1985). However, there seems to be difficulties with various biochemical methods to analyze triglyceride content in skeletal muscle tissue and the technique used in our analysis was not a standard assay at the time. It could for example be the blank sample that caused the increased values. In the fed state, AICAR treatment normalised liver triglycerides in ob/ob mice. This has also been reported for db/db mice treated eight days with AICAR where a reduction in liver triglycerides could be seen (Halseth *et al.*, 2002).

4.7 GLUCOSE UPTAKE IN ISOLATED MUSCLES

Glucose uptake was measured after an acute AICAR injection and after 7-days ACIAR-treatment (24 hours after the last dose). Two different types of muscle specimens were chosen. Soleus represented red muscle fibres, which are slow-twitch oxidative fibres, also called type I. These fibres have a smaller diameter and contain more myoglobin, mitochondria and little glycogen compared to glycolytic muscle fibres. Extensor digitorum longus (EDL) represents white muscle fibres, fast-twitch glycolytic fibres and also called type 2. There are two types of 2 fibres, 2a with fast-twitch oxidative glycolytic fibres and type 2b, which are fast-twitch glycolytic. Extensor digitorum longus is a mixture of type 2a and b.

4.7.1 Glucose uptake after acute stimulation

Muscles from non-treated animals were incubated in the absence or presence of insulin (120 nM) or AICAR (2 mM) or a combination of insulin and AICAR. Basal glucose uptake was similar between lean and ob/ob mice, but insulin-stimulated glucose uptake was reduced in ob/ob mice compared to lean mice, for both muscle types studied. AICAR-treatment normalised the glucose uptake in ob/ob mice.

4.7.2 Glucose uptake after 7-days AICAR-treatment

As in the acute AICAR-treatment study, insulin-stimulated glucose uptake was impaired in ob/ob compared with lean mice. Seven days of AICAR-treatment did not improve either basal or insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in either KKA^y-CETP (Study I), lean (Study II) or ob/ob (Study II) mice. There is a discrepancy between the results from the acute and chronic treatment regarding glucose uptake. This could possibly be an effect of the time-frame for the dosing of AICAR and the measurement of glucose uptake. Each injection of AICAR could have had a transient, short-term insulinindependent effect on skeletal muscle glucose transport, which collectively resulted in a blood glucose lowering effect. Twenty-four hours is a long time between the injection and the glucose transport measurement, especially since the half-life of AICAR is 2-3 hours (Dixon et al., 1991) in humans, and probably even faster in mice, since they normally have higher metabolic rates. The exact values for glucose transport obtained in different studies are difficulat to compare. Nevertheless, it is interesting to note that the rate of basal and insulin-induced glucose uptake in the KKA^y-CETP mice is quite normal compared to lean mice in our studies. There are a few studies where KKA^y-CETP mice have been used, but our report is the first to provide data for glucose transport in this diabetic mouse model. The implication is that glucose transport was similar between KKA^y and KKA^y-CETP mice. KKA^y mice are reported to have approximately 50 % less GLUT4 mRNA in fat tissue (Hofmann et al., 1991) and 34% less hexokinase II mRNA in quadriceps muscle than lean mice (Braithwaite et al., 1995).

Male Wistar rats were treated 5 days with AICAR or control and thereafter basal and insulin-stimulated 3-O-metylglucose uptake was measured. The rate of 3-Ometylglucose uptake was increased 63% in fast-twitch epitrochlearis (EPI) muscle, 26% in EDL muscle (fast-twitch with both oxidative and glycolytic properties) and unchanged in the slow-twitch soleus muscle (Buhl *et al.*, 2001). Obese Zucker (fa/fa) rats were treated for seven weeks with AICAR and insulin-stimulated glucose transport was improved in EDL and EPI muscle, but not in soleus muscle (Buhl *et al.*, 2002). We cannot exclude the possibility of a tissue-specific AICAR response on glucose transport, which may be present only in EPI muscle.

4.8 ADDITIONAL AMPK ACTIVATORS AND INHIBITORS

The two mitochondrial toxins dinitrophenol and rotenone were shown to activate AMPK by decreasing the ATP production in the respiratory chain (Hayashi *et al.*, 2000; Fujii *et al.*, 2005). The newly developed chemical A-769662 was found to activate AMPK and ameliorate glucose homeostasis in ob/ob mice by a so far unknown mechanism (Cool *et al.*, 2006; Goransson *et al.*, 2007). Metformin (Zhou *et al.*, 2001) and rosiglitazone also (Fryer *et al.*, 2002a) activate AMPK by unknown mechanisms.

Possibly, rosiglitazone activates AMPK via adiponectin. Compound C is a nonspecific, reversible and ATP-competitive inhibitor of AMPK (Fryer *et al.*, 2002b; Bain *et al.*, 2007). Specific AMPK activators or inhibitors are not yet available. More specific compounds would be useful tools to understand the underlying mechanisms of AMPK regulation. Another way of approaching this target could be to delay the inactivation of naturally activated AMPK.

4.9 THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN AMPK AND 11β HSD

The expression of 11β HSD1 in preadipocytes has been reported to be increased in a dose-dependent manner in AICAR-treated cells and this effect is blocked by the AMPK inhibitor, compound C (Arai *et al.*, 2007). Both AMPK and 11β HSD1 are induced by cellular stress. It is of importance for proper health to have balance or homeostasis of biological systems, which should be considered when choosing the level of activation or inhibition with a future drug. Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilisation and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMPK (Fruebis *et al.*, 2001; Yamauchi *et al.*, 2002; Yamauchi *et al.*, 2003). Interestingly, inhibition of 11β HSD1 in study III resulted in increased levels of adiponectin, which is an AMPK activator. Thus, this could represent a feed-back loop to restore homeostasis.

4.10 TREATMENTS IN THE PIPELINE

Finding new targets for treatment of type 2 diabetes and obesity is a goal for many academic groups and pharmaceutical companies. There is still an unmet medical need and there are plenty of intelligent ideas to test. The treatment list in this section is not exhausted, but rather a representative of major activities ongoing.

A second-generation of TZDs is under development. MetaglidasenTM (Zhang *et al.*, 2007), (formerly MBX-102), is currently being evaluated in phase II/III clinical trials at Metabolex for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Balaglitazone is a partial PPAR γ agonist, which in rats induced comparable anithyperglycaemic effects as rosiglitazone, but with fewer side effects (Larsen *et al.*, 2008). A third example of a second-generation TZD is RivoglitazoneTM, now in a phase III study (Schimke & Davis, 2007).

New DPPIV-inhibitors and GLP-1 analogues are in late clinical phases. For example, the DPPIV inhibitors AlogliptinTM (Nauck *et al.*, 2009) and BI-1356 (Thomas *et al.*, 2009) and the GLP-1-analouge AlbiglutideTM (Bush *et al.*, 2009) are currently under clinical trial. Another approach of enhancing the positive effect of GLP-1 is through PSN-821, a G-protein-coupled receptor (GPR)119 agonist currently in phase I clinical trials for the treatment of obesity and type 2 diabetes (Fyfe *et al.*, 2008).

Amylin is co-secreted with insulin from pancreatic beta cells (Cooper *et al.*, 1987) and acts centrally to slow gastric emptying (Young *et al.*, 1995), thereby suppressing postprandial glucagon secretion (Silvestre *et al.*, 2001), and decreasing food intake (Rushing, 2003). These actions complement those of insulin to regulate blood glucose concentrations. Amylin is relatively deficient in type 2 diabetic patients (Makimattila *et al.*, 2000), depending on the severity of beta-cell secretory failure, and is essentially absent in type 1 diabetic patients (Cooper *et al.*, 1989). Pramlintide acetate, an analogue of the pancreatic hormone amylin was launched in 2005 in USA for the treatment of both type 1 and 2 diabetes (subcutaneous injections), but is still not approved in any other country. Phase III studies were initiated in 2002 in the European

Union and in 2004 in Switzerland, but no further developments have been reported. In clinical trials, pramlintide added to insulin treatment in type 2 diabetic patients was shown to reduce postprandial glucose levels, improve glycaemic control, and promote weight loss (Weyer *et al.*, 2001; Fineman *et al.*, 2002; Hollander *et al.*, 2003).

Aldose reductase acts on the first step of the polyol metabolic pathway to catalyze the reduction of glucose to sorbitol with nicotinamid adenine dinucleotid phosphate (NADPH) as a coenzyme. Hyperactivity of the pathway in individuals with high blood glucose levels is closely related to the onset or progression of diabetic complications. Tolrestat, an aldose reductase inhibitor, slowed the progression of diabetic autonomic neuropathy compared with placebo (Didangelos *et al.*, 1998).

The kidneys play an important role in glucose homeostasis, reabsorbing 99% of the plasma glucose that filters trough the glomeruli. The glucose transporter, SGLT2 is important in this process, accounting for 90% of the glucose reabsorbation (Kanai *et al.*, 1994). SergliflozinTM (Katsuno *et al.*, 2007) and DapagliflozinTM (Washburn, 2009) are sodium-glucose cotransport (SGT-2) inhibitors, which act to increase the renal metabolism of glucose and thereby decreasing the plasma glucose level.

4.11 OTHER ANIMAL MODELS OF TYPE 2 DIABETES

Almost any mouse strain can be used for the diet-induced obese (DIO) model, but some are more sensitive to high-fat diet (West *et al.*, 1992). The strains and diets vary and the phenotype can transition between a pre-diabetic state to severe type 2 diabetes. One advantage with the DIO mouse is that it does not result from a single mutation and therefore it might be one of the most suitable models available that mimics human type 2 diabetes. Other mouse models used for studies of type 2 diabetes are the KK mice (Iwatsuka *et al.*, 1970), New Zealand Obese (NZO) mice (Bielschowsky & Bielschowsky, 1956; Subrahmanyam, 1960) and the db/db-mice with a non-functional leptin receptor (Hummel *et al.*, 1966). There are also rat models of type 2 diabetes, such as the Berry Lewin-rat (Levin *et al.*, 1989), Goto-Kakizaki rat (GK) (Goto & Kakizaki, 1981) or the Zucker fa/ fa rat (Zucker & Antoniades, 1972).

4.12 THE CLINICAL RELEVANCE

4.12.1 The clinical relevance of diabetic animal models

Lean, ob/ob, KKA^y and KKA^y-CETP mice were used as animal models in this thesis. They are all practicable models in the study of type 2 diabetes. Another model of type 2 diabetes is the high-fat diet-induced C57BL mouse described above in DIO mouse (West *et al.*, 1992). Blood glucose levels are not elevated to the same degree compared with models used in this study, however it might also be to an advantage, since the profile of these mice is more similar to type 2 diabetic patients. Very few humans are leptin deficient (associated with the ob/ob mice) and few patients have the extreme profiles of the KKA^y and KKA^y-CETP mice. But the main advantage of studying the KKA^y-CETP mouse over the DIO mouse is the human-like lipid profile (Castle *et al.*, 1998). Rosiglitazone lowers the serum glucose from 40 mM to 25 mM in KKA^y mice (Study III). Ob/ob mice were treated with rosiglitazone (4 mg/kg) and a decrease in blood glucose of 35% was measured already after four days (Hu *et al.*, 2006). In humans, rosiglitazone is less potent and lowers plasma glucose from 9.0 ± 0.9 mM to 7.9 ± 0.9 mM (Mayerson *et al.*, 2002). Another study in humans showed similar

findings, with reduction in plasma glucose from 8.8 ± 0.8 mM to 7.3 ± 0.4 mM (Tiikkainen *et al.*, 2004). Diet-induced obese mice were treated with rosiglitazone (10 mg/kg) and plasma glucose was reduced from approximately 9 mM to7 mM (Minge *et al.*, 2008). The same study included AICAR-treatment, but no effect on plasma glucose was seen probably since the dose used (30 mg/kg, ip) may be too low to have any effect. In KKA^y-CETP mice (Study I) 500 mg/kg was the lowest AICAR dose to reduce plasma glucose.

Rosiglitazone improves plasma glucose in both rodents (Hu *et al.*, 2006) and humans (Mayerson *et al.*, 2002), but consistent results with metformin are more difficult to find. Ob/ob mice were treated for 12 days with metformin without any effect on plasma glucose (Green *et al.*, 2006). Diet-induced obese rats were treated for one month with metformin (300mg/kg) and fasting plasma glucose decreased from 3.53 ± 0.26 mM to 3.28 ± 00.19 mM, which is a reduction of approximately 7% (Liu *et al.*, 2006). Metformin has also been used in our laboratory with varying effects and establishing a tolerable dose that gives the desired effect has been a challenge. If a too high dose is used, lacto acidosis can occur. In our experience, 250 mg/kg twice daily is often a functional and tolerable dose in ob/ob, db/db, DIO, KKA^y (Figure 12) and KKA^y-CETP mice.



Figure 12. KKA^y mice treated for seven days with vehicle (squares), rosiglitazone (5 mg/kg, circles) or metformin (500 mg/kg, triangles). ** p < 0.01 compared with vehicle.

When an extreme diabetic animal model is used, there is a higher risk of false positives or too aggravated answers. Large improvements of blood glucose levels observed in rodents might not occur to the same extent in humans, and thus, new drugs may fail in the clinic. For studies regarding glucose homeostasis, it could be an advantage to use extreme models of obesity and type 2 diabetes, but it might be wise to include a mild diabetic model like the DIO mouse before going into the clinic. Rosiglitazone treatment improves glucose homeostasis in in ob/ob and KKA^y mice, which is in accordance with type 2 diabetic humans. The extent of the blood glucose

lowering effect of rosiglitazone is more similar between type 2 diabetic patients and DIO mice, than in the more extreme models of type 2 diabetes.

4.12.2 The clinical relevance of substances and diabetes targets

If it is possible to mimic physical activity with an AMPK-activating substance, it may prove to be clinically relevant for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. AMPK is a wellvalidated diabetes prevention target. Although AICAR has been under evaluation for the treatment of type 2 diabetes, the clinical phase I study was conducted several years ago and no further clinical trialss for the treatment of type 2 diabetes have been started. AICAR, together with metformin and rosiglitazone, are probably the best chemical tools today to study AMPK activation, but unfortunately none of these substances are specific AMPK activators.

Since there are differences in the structures of glucocorticoids in humans and rodents there is a need to develop species specific drugs for chemical validation. Mouse models were chosen as a surrogate model for study III, and thus, specific mouse 11\beta HSD1-inhibitors were developed. It was regarded too risky not to have a mouse model, since the potential human drug could otherwise not be tested in vivo before going into primates, which is both an ethical issue and can lead to a higher risk of failure in the clinic. The liver specific 11^βHSD inhibitor BVT2733 had positive effects on glucose homeostasis in several mouse models of type 2 diabetes (Alberts et al., 2002; Alberts et al., 2003), however the human equivalent to this drug failed in the clinical trail. The clinical relevance was insufficient with BVT2733. This could be due to species differences between mice and humans. Glucose homeostasis in mice is probably more dependent on liver than in humans. But it is also possible that inhibition of 11BHSD1 has no clinical relevance, since there was no effect on glucose homeostasis noted in humans after treatment with BVT2733. The clinical relevance of 11βHSD1 inhibition in adipose tissue is still to be determined. However, Incyte recently showed proof of concept in humans with the 11BHSD1-inhibitor INCB13739 (Rosenstock et al., 2009).

4.13 ETHICAL ISSUES

Working with animal models is an ethical dilemma. The persons responsible for the in vivo parts in this thesis are well educated regarding animal welfare and have treated the animals with respect. The animal studies were classified as moderate by the local ethical committee. It is stressful for the mice to be taken out of the cage for weighing or blood sampling, but all major interventions were done under anaesthesia. Another question is the human suffering versus the animal suffering regarding the diseases, in this case type 2 diabetes and obesity. There are other, maybe better, ways of losing weight and treating high blood glucose than taking drugs. For example moderate walking has shown reduced risk of mortality for patients with type 2 diabetes (Caspersen & Fulton, 2008). Consuming fewer calories and exercising more could be one inexpensive alternative. However for many it seems to be extremely difficult to change life style to a more healthy way of life. There are also patients with reduced capability to exercise and patients who have extra difficulties in changing their life style. Overeating can sometimes be compared with an abuse of alcohol. It is of importance to understand the underlying mechanisms of the disease and different treatments. More knowledge can possibly encourage some patients to change their life style and new drugs are needed to help the patients who are unable to change.

Therefore it is necessary to perform animal studies, however the studies shall always take the three "R"s into account i.e. refinement, reduction and replacement.

5 SUMMARY

5.1 STUDY I AND II

AMPK-activation had several positive effects in the pharmacodynamic studies in rodent models of type 2 diabetes. Plasma glucose was normalised after AICAR treatment in ob/ob mice and ameliorated in KKA^y-CETP mice. The volume of urine and the concentration of glucose in urine were measured in KKA^y-CETP mice and both were reduced. The reduction in these three parameters could possibly be due to increased glucose uptake measured by improved glucose tolerance after 7-days treatment with AICAR, and increased glucose uptake in isolated muscles after acute exposure to AICAR. This was supported by increased protein expression of GLUT4 and hexokinase II, and increased MEF2 DNA binding, all biomarkers of glucose uptake. The activity of PI3-kinase was not enhanced, indicating that the decreased plasma glucose and improved glucose transport were not likely to be linked to improved insulin action on PI3-kinase. Basal plasma insulin was decreased and insulin sensitivity measured by an insulin tolerance test and using a hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamp technique was improved in KKA^y-CETP mice.

The increased liver glycogen content in AICAR-treated ob/ob mice in study II could be due to either inhibition of the hepatic glycogen breakdown or to an increased glycogen formation, or both. The protein content of glycogen synthase was not increased indicating that the increased glycogen content in liver and skeletal muscle is not a result of increased glycogen formation. On the contrary, the clamp studies from study I showed that the hepatic glucose output is reduced after AICAR treatment, both acutely and after 7-days treatment (during infusion of insulin).

All the above described changes are in line with the hypothesis of AMPKactivation. In theory, activation of AMPK should also increase the fatty acid oxidation (Merrill *et al.*, 1997; Merrill *et al.*, 1998). An increased fatty acid oxidation should possibly result in an ameliorated lipid profile. However, this was not the case in study I and II. Instead the plasma triglycerides, free fatty acids and cholesterol were increased in both rodent models. In the KKA^y-CETP mice the HDL-cholesterol were reduced and the VLDL-cholesterol increased, but liver triglycerides were decreased in ob/ob mice. The deteriorative effect on the lipid profile could possibly arise from side-effects from the non-specific AMPK activator or as a compensatory mechanism triggered by starvation signals.

Activation of AMPK in hypothalamus should increase food intake (Andersson *et al.*, 2004), instead food intake was reduced in the KKA^y-CETP mice and lost weight occured. The ob/ob and the lean mice did not alter body weight or food intake in response to AICAR treatment. This could possibly be explained by the different routes of administration i.e. subcutaneous for the ob/ob and lean mice or intraperitoneal for the KKA^y-CETP mice.

5.2 STUDY III

Inhibition of 11β HSD1 resulted in a decrease in the plasma glucose concentration, which could partly be caused by the increased adiponectin concentration. Low levels of

the high molecular form of adiponectin is especially associated with type 2 diabetes and obesity (Lara-Castro *et al.*, 2006). Both the medium and the high molecular forms of adiponectin were elevated after 11 β HSD1inhibition. This was in line with *in vitro* results, where primary human adipocytes also secreted more adiponectin in response to *in vitro* BVT116429 exposure. Glucose tolerance was not improved in study III, but the same substance improved the glucose tolerance in Ldlr knockout mice (Hu *et al.*, 1996). Basal plasma insulin concentration was improved. The leptin concentration was elevated, which was not due to increased food intake or weight gain. BVT2733, with its 11 β HSD1 inhibitory effect primarily in the liver, had no effect on adiponectin, but decreased hepatic glucose production (Alberts *et al.*, 2003). BVT116429, a compound with its primary effect in adipose tissue, was without effect on endogenous glucose production. The positive effect of 11 β HSD1 inhibition in adipose tissue on glucose levels could be partly caused by effects downstream of adiponectin.

6 CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In this thesis, two novel targets regarding the treatment of type 2 diabetes have been investigated and discussed. Both targets have characteristics which could be of use in the clinic, if an approved drug is produced. AICAR is in phase I study for the treatment of type 2 diabetes, but newer substances might be more specific, targeting the subunits of AMPK, and therefore more effective and safer. However, screening for subunit-specific AMPK activators is extremely difficult and so far no company has found a more specific substance. Unfortunately, it is not sufficient to identifity and validate targets. In drug development, all phases need to deliver positive results. In this case, no starting points for new chemical entities were found in the screening. However, there are opportunities for others to be more successful in the search for AMPK activators and there might be more innovative screens in the future.

11βHSD1 is a well-validated target and starting points for chemistry were found in the high-throughput screen. Substances were approved and improved in lead generation and in lead optimisation. The pharmacodynamic studies showed efficacy *in vivo* and no issues were found in the preclinical studies. The human specific equivalent to BVT116429 was tested in a clinical phase I study and adiponectin was used as a biomarker. However, additional information has not been further released from Amgen, the owner of the drug. Inhibition of 11βHSD1 is now validated for the treatment of type 2 diabetes in humans. Results from Incyte's clinical phase II study were recently revealed (Rosenstock *et al.*, 2009). Delivery of the 11βHSD1-inhibitor INCB13739 to type 2 diabetic patients inadequately controlled by metformin resulted in statistically significant reduction in HbA_{1C}, fasting plasma glucose, homeostasis model assessmentinsulin resistance and total cholesterol after 12 weeks treatment.

Both AMPK and the glucocorticoids are influenced by stress. Adipocytes treated *in vitro* with AICAR showed increased expression of 11 β HSD1 (Arai *et al.*, 2007). In all physiological systems, homeostasis is preferable and it is of great importance to find the right level of inactivation or activation. Cortisol does not only have impact on metabolism, but it has other important roles for example in the immune system. The safety risks with long-term treatment with 11 β HSD-inhibitors will now have to be determined, especially for patients with reduced immune response.

The features of type 2 diabetes can also be viewed as a defence against obesity. By decreasing insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance, energy is stored to a less extent. By increasing blood glucose, more will be excreted in the urine. This decrease in glucose uptake is not sufficient as a defence mechanism. Thus, type 2 diabetes is associated with complications such as a higher risk of heart disease. Therefore it is innovative to produce drugs which raise the energy output by increasing fat oxidation, which an AMPK-activator should do. New strategies are needed for drug development, to find novel therapies for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Inhibition of 11 β HSD1 and activation of AMPK might help people achieve a better quality of life, but this will need to be corroborated by more studies and a greater understanding before addressing whether these targets can result in drugs and benefit to type 2 diabetic patients.

7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my encouraging and intelligent supervisors starting with Juleen Zierath. Thank you for giving me the chance to be guided by you, for your patience and for challenging me when I most needed it.

I had the advantage of having several co-supervisors during my studies, all excellent women supporting me exactly as I needed, at the present time. Thank you Yin Liang for starting me up. You are one of the most sparkling and energetic scientist I ever met. Thank you Eva Björkstrand, without you I would have given up in 2002. Thank you for continuing as my mentor and for your friendship. Thank you Ulrika Warpman, you carried me when I did not have the strength to walk. Thank you for your supervision and friendship, even from aboard. Thank you Christina Kaiser, you helped me finish this task. I could not have done it without you and I admire your serenity and kindness.

Göran Selén, thank you for sharing your knowledge with me. Thank you for your time, patience and kindness.

Joanna Chmielewska, Lotta Söderberg and Stephen James, thank you for allowing me to finishing my task. Thank you for your support and help.

Margareta Svedlund, thank you for all help, kindness and support.

Thank you all great colleagues at Biovitrum and Karolinska Institutet. Thank you, Karin Fhölenhag, Millvej Kristensson, Viola Berggren, Ursula Multan, Pia Axelsson, Patricia Hedenqvist, Azita Rasti, Mandana Ashkzari, Jenny Skogsberg, Anders Neil, Anne-Marie Pettersson, Ali Resa-Modiri, Catarina Larsson, Catrine Dreifeldt, Cecilia Nilsson, Jan Svartengren, Annika Jenmalm-Jensen, Sven Ekvärn, Victor Castro, Annette Hellman, Lubna Al-Khalili, Marie Björnholm, Xio-Mei Song, Tatiana Steiler, Mei Yu, Maria Fernström, Dana Galuska, Anna Krook, Håkan Karlsson, Boubacar Benziane, Katrin Bergdahl, Hanneke Boon, Alexander Chibalin, Thasis de Castro Barbosa, Atul Deshmukh, Brendan Egan, Niclas Franck, Pablo Garcia-Roves, Marc Gilbert, Daniella Guimaraes, Maria Holmström, Qunfeng Jiang, Inger Kühn, Sameer Kulkarni, Fredrick Mashili, Naoki Miyoshi, Torbjörn Morein, Emmani Nascimento, Megan Osler, Sergej Pirkmajer, Firoozeh Salehzadeh, Rasmus Sjögren, Ferenc Szekeres, Peter Sögard, Robby Tom, Ulrika Widegren, Jie Yan, Jeffery Ryder and Anna Rune for support regarding everything from "grilling" to animal handling.

Tack alla vänner för stöd.

En stor kram till min familj som stöttat mig under alla år. Tack, min älskade make. Marcus, du är mitt allt.

8 REFERENCES

- Alberts, P., Engblom, L., Edling, N., Forsgren, M., Klingstrom, G., Larsson, C., Ronquist-Nii, Y., Ohman, B. & Abrahmsen, L. (2002) Selective inhibition of 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 decreases blood glucose concentrations in hyperglycaemic mice. *Diabetologia*, 45(11):1528-1532.
- Alberts, P., Nilsson, C., Selen, G., Engblom, L. O., Edling, N. H., Norling, S., Klingstrom, G., Larsson, C., Forsgren, M., Ashkzari, M., Nilsson, C. E., Fiedler, M., Bergqvist, E., Ohman, B., Bjorkstrand, E. & Abrahmsen, L. B. (2003) Selective inhibition of 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 improves hepatic insulin sensitivity in hyperglycemic mice strains. *Endocrinology*, 144(11):4755-4762.
- Alwakeel, J. S., Al-Suwaida, A., Isnani, A. C., Al-Harbi, A. & Alam, A. (2009) Concomitant macro and microvascular complications in diabetic nephropathy. *Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl*, **20**(3):402-409.
- Andersson, U., Filipsson, K., Abbott, C. R., Woods, A., Smith, K., Bloom, S. R., Carling, D. & Small, C. J. (2004) AMP-activated protein kinase plays a role in the control of food intake. *J Biol Chem*, **279**(13):12005-12008.
- Andreelli, F., Foretz, M., Knauf, C., Cani, P. D., Perrin, C., Iglesias, M. A., Pillot, B., Bado, A., Tronche, F., Mithieux, G., Vaulont, S., Burcelin, R. & Viollet, B. (2006) Liver adenosine monophosphate-activated kinase-alpha2 catalytic subunit is a key target for the control of hepatic glucose production by adiponectin and leptin but not insulin. *Endocrinology*, **147**(5):2432-2441.
- Andrews, R. C., Rooyackers, O. & Walker, B. R. (2003) Effects of the 11 betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase inhibitor carbenoxolone on insulin sensitivity in men with type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, **88**(1):285-291.
- Arai, N., Masuzaki, H., Tanaka, T., Ishii, T., Yasue, S., Kobayashi, N., Tomita, T., Noguchi, M., Kusakabe, T., Fujikura, J., Ebihara, K., Hirata, M., Hosoda, K., Hayashi, T., Sawai, H., Minokoshi, Y. & Nakao, K. (2007) Ceramide and adenosine 5'-monophosphate-activated protein kinase are two novel regulators of 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 expression and activity in cultured preadipocytes. *Endocrinology*, **148**(11):5268-5277.
- Arita, Y., Kihara, S., Ouchi, N., Takahashi, M., Maeda, K., Miyagawa, J., Hotta, K., Shimomura, I., Nakamura, T., Miyaoka, K., Kuriyama, H., Nishida, M., Yamashita, S., Okubo, K., Matsubara, K., Muraguchi, M., Ohmoto, Y., Funahashi, T. & Matsuzawa, Y. (1999) Paradoxical decrease of an adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in obesity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 257(1):79-83.
- Asadollahi, K., Beeching, N. & Gill, G. (2007) Hyperglycaemia and mortality. *J R Soc Med*, **100**(11):503-507.
- Baas, A. F., Boudeau, J., Sapkota, G. P., Smit, L., Medema, R., Morrice, N. A., Alessi, D. R. & Clevers, H. C. (2003) Activation of the tumour suppressor kinase LKB1 by the STE20-like pseudokinase STRAD. *EMBO J*, 22(12):3062-3072.
- Bain, J., Plater, L., Elliott, M., Shpiro, N., Hastie, C. J., McLauchlan, H., Klevernic, I., Arthur, J. S., Alessi, D. R. & Cohen, P. (2007) The selectivity of protein kinase inhibitors: a further update. *Biochem J*, 408(3):297-315.
- Banerjee, R. R., Rangwala, S. M., Shapiro, J. S., Rich, A. S., Rhoades, B., Qi, Y., Wang, J., Rajala, M. W., Pocai, A., Scherer, P. E., Steppan, C. M., Ahima, R. S., Obici, S., Rossetti, L. & Lazar, M. A. (2004) Regulation of fasted blood glucose by resistin. *Science*, **303**(5661):1195-1198.
- Barnes, B. R., Marklund, S., Steiler, T. L., Walter, M., Hjalm, G., Amarger, V., Mahlapuu, M., Leng, Y., Johansson, C., Galuska, D., Lindgren, K., Abrink, M., Stapleton, D., Zierath, J. R. & Andersson, L. (2004) The 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase gamma3 isoform has a key role in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in glycolytic skeletal muscle. *J Biol Chem*, **279**(37):38441-38447.
- Bergeron, R., Russell, R. R., 3rd, Young, L. H., Ren, J. M., Marcucci, M., Lee, A. & Shulman, G. I. (1999) Effect of AMPK activation on muscle glucose metabolism in conscious rats. *Am J Physiol*, **276**(5 Pt 1):E938-944.

- Bergeron, R., Previs, S. F., Cline, G. W., Perret, P., Russell, R. R., 3rd, Young, L. H. & Shulman, G. I. (2001) Effect of 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1-beta-Dribofuranoside infusion on in vivo glucose and lipid metabolism in lean and obese Zucker rats. *Diabetes*, **50**(5):1076-1082.
- Bernstein, G. (2008) Delivery of insulin to the buccal mucosa utilizing the RapidMist system. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv*, **5**(9):1047-1055.
- Besse, A., Lamothe, B., Campos, A. D., Webster, W. K., Maddineni, U., Lin, S. C., Wu, H. & Darnay, B. G. (2007) TAK1-dependent signaling requires functional interaction with TAB2/TAB3. *J Biol Chem*, **282**(6):3918-3928.
- Bielschowsky, F. & Bielschowsky, M. (1956) The New Zealand strain of obese mice; their response to stilboestrol and to insulin. *Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci*, **34**(3):181-198.
- Bolen, S., Feldman, L., Vassy, J., Wilson, L., Yeh, H. C., Marinopoulos, S., Wiley, C., Selvin, E., Wilson, R., Bass, E. B. & Brancati, F. L. (2007) Systematic review: comparative effectiveness and safety of oral medications for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Ann Intern Med*, **147**(6):386-399.
- Bolster, D. R., Crozier, S. J., Kimball, S. R. & Jefferson, L. S. (2002) AMP-activated protein kinase suppresses protein synthesis in rat skeletal muscle through downregulated mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling. *J Biol Chem*, 277(27):23977-23980.
- Boon, H., Bosselaar, M., Praet, S. F., Blaak, E. E., Saris, W. H., Wagenmakers, A. J., McGee, S. L., Tack, C. J., Smits, P., Hargreaves, M. & van Loon, L. J. (2008) Intravenous AICAR administration reduces hepatic glucose output and inhibits whole body lipolysis in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetologia*, **51**(10):1893-1900.
- Boudeau, J., Baas, A. F., Deak, M., Morrice, N. A., Kieloch, A., Schutkowski, M., Prescott, A. R., Clevers, H. C. & Alessi, D. R. (2003) MO25alpha/beta interact with STRADalpha/beta enhancing their ability to bind, activate and localize LKB1 in the cytoplasm. *EMBO J*, 22(19):5102-5114.
- Braithwaite, S. S., Palazuk, B., Colca, J. R., Edwards, C. W., 3rd & Hofmann, C. (1995) Reduced expression of hexokinase II in insulin-resistant diabetes. *Diabetes*, **44**(1):43-48.
- Bray, G. A., Nielsen, S. J. & Popkin, B. M. (2004) Consumption of high-fructose corn syrup in beverages may play a role in the epidemic of obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr*, **79**(4):537-543.
- Brem, H. & Tomic-Canic, M. (2007) Cellular and molecular basis of wound healing in diabetes. *J Clin Invest*, **117**(5):1219-1222.
- Bruss, M. D., Arias, E. B., Lienhard, G. E. & Cartee, G. D. (2005) Increased phosphorylation of Akt substrate of 160 kDa (AS160) in rat skeletal muscle in response to insulin or contractile activity. *Diabetes*, **54**(1):41-50.
- Buhl, E. S., Jessen, N., Schmitz, O., Pedersen, S. B., Pedersen, O., Holman, G. D. & Lund, S. (2001) Chronic treatment with 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1-beta-D-ribofuranoside increases insulin-stimulated glucose uptake and GLUT4 translocation in rat skeletal muscles in a fiber type-specific manner. *Diabetes*, 50(1):12-17.
- Buhl, E. S., Jessen, N., Pold, R., Ledet, T., Flyvbjerg, A., Pedersen, S. B., Pedersen, O., Schmitz, O. & Lund, S. (2002) Long-term AICAR administration reduces metabolic disturbances and lowers blood pressure in rats displaying features of the insulin resistance syndrome. *Diabetes*, **51**(7):2199-2206.
- Bush, M. A., Matthews, J. E., De Boever, E. H., Dobbins, R. L., Hodge, R. J., Walker, S. E., Holland, M. C., Gutierrez, M. & Stewart, M. W. (2009) Safety, tolerability, pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of albiglutide, a long-acting glucagonlike peptide-1 mimetic, in healthy subjects. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, **11**(5):498-505.
- Campfield, L. A., Smith, F. J., Guisez, Y., Devos, R. & Burn, P. (1995) Recombinant mouse OB protein: evidence for a peripheral signal linking adiposity and central neural networks. *Science*, 269(5223):546-549.
- Carling, D., Clarke, P. R., Zammit, V. A. & Hardie, D. G. (1989) Purification and characterization of the AMP-activated protein kinase. Copurification of acetyl-CoA carboxylase kinase and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase kinase activities. *Eur J Biochem*, **186**(1-2):129-136.

- Caspersen, C. J. & Fulton, J. E. (2008) Epidemiology of walking and type 2 diabetes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 40(7 Suppl):S519-528.
- Castle, C. K., Kuiper, S. L., Blake, W. L., Paigen, B., Marotti, K. R. & Melchior, G. W. (1998) Remodeling of the HDL in NIDDM: a fundamental role for cholesteryl ester transfer protein. *Am J Physiol*, **274**(6 Pt 1):E1091-1098.
- Chen, Z., Heierhorst, J., Mann, R. J., Mitchelhill, K. I., Michell, B. J., Witters, L. A., Lynch, G. S., Kemp, B. E. & Stapleton, D. (1999) Expression of the AMP-activated protein kinase beta1 and beta2 subunits in skeletal muscle. *FEBS Lett*, **460**(2):343-348.
- Cheung, P. C., Salt, I. P., Davies, S. P., Hardie, D. G. & Carling, D. (2000) Characterization of AMP-activated protein kinase gamma-subunit isoforms and their role in AMP binding. *Biochem J*, **346 Pt 3**:659-669.
- Cheung, P. C., Nebreda, A. R. & Cohen, P. (2004) TAB3, a new binding partner of the protein kinase TAK1. *Biochem J*, **378**(Pt 1):27-34.
- Cool, B., Zinker, B., Chiou, W., Kifle, L., Cao, N., Perham, M., Dickinson, R., Adler, A., Gagne, G., Iyengar, R., Zhao, G., Marsh, K., Kym, P., Jung, P., Camp, H. S. & Frevert, E. (2006) Identification and characterization of a small molecule AMPK activator that treats key components of type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome. *Cell Metab*, 3(6):403-416.
- Cooper, G. J., Willis, A. C., Clark, A., Turner, R. C., Sim, R. B. & Reid, K. B. (1987) Purification and characterization of a peptide from amyloid-rich pancreases of type 2 diabetic patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **84**(23):8628-8632.
- Cooper, G. J., Day, A. J., Willis, A. C., Roberts, A. N., Reid, K. B. & Leighton, B. (1989) Amylin and the amylin gene: structure, function and relationship to islet amyloid and to diabetes mellitus. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1014**(3):247-258.
- Corton, J. M., Gillespie, J. G. & Hardie, D. G. (1994) Role of the AMP-activated protein kinase in the cellular stress response. *Curr Biol*, **4**(4):315-324.
- Corton, J. M., Gillespie, J. G., Hawley, S. A. & Hardie, D. G. (1995) 5aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleoside. A specific method for activating AMP-activated protein kinase in intact cells? *Eur J Biochem*, **229**(2):558-565.
- Crawford, T. N., Alfaro, D. V., 3rd, Kerrison, J. B. & Jablon, E. P. (2009) Diabetic retinopathy and angiogenesis. *Curr Diabetes Rev*, **5**(1):8-13.
- Cusi, K., Consoli, A. & DeFronzo, R. A. (1996) Metabolic effects of metformin on glucose and lactate metabolism in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 81(11):4059-4067.
- Davies, S. P., Hawley, S. A., Woods, A., Carling, D., Haystead, T. A. & Hardie, D. G. (1994) Purification of the AMP-activated protein kinase on ATP-gamma-sepharose and analysis of its subunit structure. *Eur J Biochem*, 223(2):351-357.
- de Lange, P., Moreno, M., Silvestri, E., Lombardi, A., Goglia, F. & Lanni, A. (2007) Fuel economy in food-deprived skeletal muscle: signaling pathways and regulatory mechanisms. *FASEB J*, **21**(13):3431-3441.
- Derave, W., Ai, H., Ihlemann, J., Witters, L. A., Kristiansen, S., Richter, E. A. & Ploug, T. (2000) Dissociation of AMP-activated protein kinase activation and glucose transport in contracting slow-twitch muscle. *Diabetes*, **49**(8):1281-1287.
- Didangelos, T. P., Athyros, V. G., Karamitsos, D. T., Papageorgiou, A. A., Kourtoglou, G. I. & Kontopoulos, A. G. (1998) Effect of aldose reductase inhibition on heart rate variability in patients with severe or moderate diabetic autonomic neuropathy. *Clin Drug Investig*, **15**(2):111-121.
- Dixon, R., Gourzis, J., McDermott, D., Fujitaki, J., Dewland, P. & Gruber, H. (1991) AICA-riboside: safety, tolerance, and pharmacokinetics of a novel adenosineregulating agent. *J Clin Pharmacol*, **31**(4):342-347.
- Ekmekci, H. & Ekmekci, O. B. (2006) The role of adiponectin in atherosclerosis and thrombosis. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost*, **12**(2):163-168.
- Ferrer, A., Caelles, C., Massot, N. & Hegardt, F. G. (1985) Activation of rat liver cytosolic 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase kinase by adenosine 5'-monophosphate. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 132(2):497-504.
- Fiedler, M., Zierath, J. R., Selen, G., Wallberg-Henriksson, H., Liang, Y. & Sakariassen, K. S. (2001) 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxy-amide-1-beta-Dribofuranoside treatment ameliorates hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia but not dyslipidaemia in KKAy-CETP mice. *Diabetologia*, 44(12):2180-2186.

- Fineman, M., Weyer, C., Maggs, D. G., Strobel, S. & Kolterman, O. G. (2002) The human amylin analog, pramlintide, reduces postprandial hyperglucagonemia in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Horm Metab Res*, **34**(9):504-508.
- Fruebis, J., Tsao, T. S., Javorschi, S., Ebbets-Reed, D., Erickson, M. R., Yen, F. T., Bihain, B. E. & Lodish, H. F. (2001) Proteolytic cleavage product of 30-kDa adipocyte complement-related protein increases fatty acid oxidation in muscle and causes weight loss in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **98**(4):2005-2010.
- Fryer, L. G., Parbu-Patel, A. & Carling, D. (2002a) The Anti-diabetic drugs rosiglitazone and metformin stimulate AMP-activated protein kinase through distinct signaling pathways. *J Biol Chem*, **277**(28):25226-25232.
- Fryer, L. G., Parbu-Patel, A. & Carling, D. (2002b) Protein kinase inhibitors block the stimulation of the AMP-activated protein kinase by 5-amino-4-imidazolecarboxamide riboside. *FEBS Lett*, **531**(2):189-192.
- Fujii, N., Hirshman, M. F., Kane, E. M., Ho, R. C., Peter, L. E., Seifert, M. M. & Goodyear, L. J. (2005) AMP-activated protein kinase alpha2 activity is not essential for contraction- and hyperosmolarity-induced glucose transport in skeletal muscle. *J Biol Chem*, 280(47):39033-39041.
- Fujii, N., Jessen, N. & Goodyear, L. J. (2006) AMP-activated protein kinase and the regulation of glucose transport. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 291(5):E867-877.
- Fyfe, M., McCormack, J., Overton, H. & Procter, M. (2008) PSN821: A novel oral GPR119 agonist for the treatment of type 2 diabetes producing substantial glucose lowering and weight loss in rats. in proceedings from 68th Annu Meet Sci Sess Am Diabetes Assoc San Francisco.
- Gabir, M. M., Hanson, R. L., Dabelea, D., Imperatore, G., Roumain, J., Bennett, P. H. & Knowler, W. C. (2000) Plasma glucose and prediction of microvascular disease and mortality: evaluation of 1997 American Diabetes Association and 1999 World Health Organization criteria for diagnosis of diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 23(8):1113-1118.
- Gil-Campos, M., Canete, R. & Gil, A. (2004) Hormones regulating lipid metabolism and plasma lipids in childhood obesity. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, **28 Suppl 3:S**75-80.
- Gillespie, J. G. & Hardie, D. G. (1992) Phosphorylation and inactivation of HMG-CoA reductase at the AMP-activated protein kinase site in response to fructose treatment of isolated rat hepatocytes. *FEBS Lett*, **306**(1):59-62.
- Goransson, O., McBride, A., Hawley, S. A., Ross, F. A., Shpiro, N., Foretz, M., Viollet, B., Hardie, D. G. & Sakamoto, K. (2007) Mechanism of action of A-769662, a valuable tool for activation of AMP-activated protein kinase. *J Biol Chem*, 282(45):32549-32560.
- Goto, B. Y. & Kakizaki, M. (1981) The spontanious-diabetes rat. A model of noninsulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *Proc Japan Acad*, **57:**381-384.
- Green, B. D., Irwin, N., Duffy, N. A., Gault, V. A., O'Harte F, P. & Flatt, P. R. (2006) Inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase-IV activity by metformin enhances the antidiabetic effects of glucagon-like peptide-1. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **547**(1-3):192-199.
- Greer, E. L., Banko, M. R. & Brunet, A. (2009) AMP-activated protein kinase and FoxO transcription factors in dietary restriction-induced longevity. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, **1170**:688-692.
- Groop, L. (2000) Pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes: the relative contribution of insulin resistance and impaired insulin secretion. *Int J Clin Pract Suppl*, (113):3-13.
- Halaas, J. L., Gajiwala, K. S., Maffei, M., Cohen, S. L., Chait, B. T., Rabinowitz, D., Lallone, R. L., Burley, S. K. & Friedman, J. M. (1995) Weight-reducing effects of the plasma protein encoded by the obese gene. *Science*, 269(5223):543-546.
- Halseth, A. E., Ensor, N. J., White, T. A., Ross, S. A. & Gulve, E. A. (2002) Acute and chronic treatment of ob/ob and db/db mice with AICAR decreases blood glucose concentrations. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, **294**(4):798-805.
- Hamill, O. P., Marty, A., Neher, E., Sakmann, B. & Sigworth, F. J. (1981) Improved patch-clamp techniques for high-resolution current recording from cells and cellfree membrane patches. *Pflugers Arch*, **391**(2):85-100.

- Hansen, P., Gulve, E., Gao, J., Schluter, J., Mueckler, M. & Holloszy, J. (1995) Kinetics of 2-deoxyglucose transport in skeletal muscle: effects of insulin and contractions. *Am J Physiol*, **268**(1 Pt 1):C30-35.
- Hawley, S. A., Selbert, M. A., Goldstein, E. G., Edelman, A. M., Carling, D. & Hardie, D. G. (1995) 5'-AMP activates the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade, and Ca2+/calmodulin activates the calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I cascade, via three independent mechanisms. *J Biol Chem*, **270**(45):27186-27191.
- Hayashi, T., Hirshman, M. F., Kurth, E. J., Winder, W. W. & Goodyear, L. J. (1998) Evidence for 5' AMP-activated protein kinase mediation of the effect of muscle contraction on glucose transport. *Diabetes*, 47(8):1369-1373.
- Hayashi, T., Hirshman, M. F., Fujii, N., Habinowski, S. A., Witters, L. A. & Goodyear, L. J. (2000) Metabolic stress and altered glucose transport: activation of AMPactivated protein kinase as a unifying coupling mechanism. *Diabetes*, 49(4):527-531.
- Henin, N., Vincent, M. F., Gruber, H. E. & Van den Berghe, G. (1995) Inhibition of fatty acid and cholesterol synthesis by stimulation of AMP-activated protein kinase. *FASEB J*, **9**(7):541-546.
- Herman, M. A. & Kahn, B. B. (2006) Glucose transport and sensing in the maintenance of glucose homeostasis and metabolic harmony. *J Clin Invest*, **116**(7):1767-1775.
- Hermanowski-Vosatka, A., Balkovec, J. M., Cheng, K., Chen, H. Y., Hernandez, M., Koo, G. C., Le Grand, C. B., Li, Z., Metzger, J. M., Mundt, S. S., Noonan, H., Nunes, C. N., Olson, S. H., Pikounis, B., Ren, N., Robertson, N., Schaeffer, J. M., Shah, K., Springer, M. S., Strack, A. M., Strowski, M., Wu, K., Wu, T., Xiao, J., Zhang, B. B., Wright, S. D. & Thieringer, R. (2005) 11beta-HSD1 inhibition ameliorates metabolic syndrome and prevents progression of atherosclerosis in mice. J Exp Med, 202(4):517-527.
- Ho, A. & Chin, A. (1988) Circadian feeding and drinking patterns of genetically obese mice fed solid chow diet. *Physiol Behav*, 43(5):651-656.
- Hofmann, C., Lorenz, K. & Colca, J. R. (1991) Glucose transport deficiency in diabetic animals is corrected by treatment with the oral antihyperglycemic agent pioglitazone. *Endocrinology*, **129**(4):1915-1925.
- Hollander, P., Ratner, R., Fineman, M., Strobel, S., Shen, L., Maggs, D., Kolterman, O. & Weyer, C. (2003) Addition of pramlintide to insulin therapy lowers HbA1c in conjunction with weight loss in patients with type 2 diabetes approaching glycaemic targets. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, 5(6):408-414.
- Holmes, B. F., Kurth-Kraczek, E. J. & Winder, W. W. (1999) Chronic activation of 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase increases GLUT-4, hexokinase, and glycogen in muscle. J Appl Physiol, 87(5):1990-1995.
- Hotta, K., Funahashi, T., Arita, Y., Takahashi, M., Matsuda, M., Okamoto, Y., Iwahashi, H., Kuriyama, H., Ouchi, N., Maeda, K., Nishida, M., Kihara, S., Sakai, N., Nakajima, T., Hasegawa, K., Muraguchi, M., Ohmoto, Y., Nakamura, T., Yamashita, S., Hanafusa, T. & Matsuzawa, Y. (2000) Plasma concentrations of a novel, adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in type 2 diabetic patients. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, **20**(6):1595-1599.
- Hu, E., Liang, P. & Spiegelman, B. M. (1996) AdipoQ is a novel adipose-specific gene dysregulated in obesity. J Biol Chem, 271(18):10697-10703.
- Hu, X., Feng, Y., Shen, Y., Zhao, X. F., Yu, J. H., Yang, Y. S. & Leng, Y. (2006) Antidiabetic effect of a novel non-thiazolidinedione PPAR gamma/alpha agonist on ob/ob mice. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*, **27**(10):1346-1352.
- Hummel, K. P., Dickie, M. M. & Coleman, D. L. (1966) Diabetes, a new mutation in the mouse. *Science*, **153**(740):1127-1128.
- Illouz, F., Roulier, V., Rod, A., Gallois, Y., Pelle, C. P., Aube, C., Rohmer, V., Ritz, P. & Ducluzeau, P. H. (2008) Distribution of adipose tissue: quantification and relationship with hepatic steatosis and vascular profiles of type 2 diabetic patients with metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Metab*, **34**(1):68-74.
- Irwin, S. (1968) Comprehensive observational assessment: Ia. A systematic, quantitative procedure for assessing the behavioral and physiologic state of the mouse. *Psychopharmacologia*, **13**(3):222-257.
- Iwatsuka, H., Shino, A. & Suzuoki, Z. (1970) General survey of diabetic features of yellow KK mice. *Endocrinol Jpn*, 17(1):23-35.

Jaromowska, M. & Gorski, J. (1985) Effect of fasting on skeletal muscle triglyceride content. *Experientia*, **41**(3):357-358.

- Jean, D. J., Jr., Yuan, C., Bercot, E. A., Cupples, R., Chen, M., Fretland, J., Hale, C., Hungate, R. W., Komorowski, R., Veniant, M., Wang, M., Zhang, X. & Fotsch, C. (2007) 2-(S)-phenethylaminothiazolones as potent, orally efficacious inhibitors of 11beta-hydroxysteriod dehydrogenase type 1. *J Med Chem*, **50**(3):429-432.
- Jee, S. H., Ohrr, H., Sull, J. W., Yun, J. E., Ji, M. & Samet, J. M. (2005) Fasting serum glucose level and cancer risk in Korean men and women. *JAMA*, **293**(2):194-202.
- Jessen, N. & Goodyear, L. J. (2005) Contraction signaling to glucose transport in skeletal muscle. *J Appl Physiol*, **99**(1):330-337.
- Kadowaki, T. & Yamauchi, T. (2005) Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors. *Endocr Rev*, **26**(3):439-451.
- Kanai, Y., Lee, W. S., You, G., Brown, D. & Hediger, M. A. (1994) The human kidney low affinity Na+/glucose cotransporter SGLT2. Delineation of the major renal reabsorptive mechanism for D-glucose. *J Clin Invest*, **93**(1):397-404.
- Katsuno, K., Fujimori, Y., Takemura, Y., Hiratochi, M., Itoh, F., Komatsu, Y., Fujikura, H. & Isaji, M. (2007) Sergliflozin, a novel selective inhibitor of lowaffinity sodium glucose cotransporter (SGLT2), validates the critical role of SGLT2 in renal glucose reabsorption and modulates plasma glucose level. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, **320**(1):323-330.
- Kaushik, V. K., Young, M. E., Dean, D. J., Kurowski, T. G., Saha, A. K. & Ruderman, N. B. (2001) Regulation of fatty acid oxidation and glucose metabolism in rat soleus muscle: effects of AICAR. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 281(2):E335-340.
- Kemp, B. E. (2004) Bateman domains and adenosine derivatives form a binding contract. *J Clin Invest*, **113**(2):182-184.
- Kershaw, E. E., Morton, N. M., Dhillon, H., Ramage, L., Seckl, J. R. & Flier, J. S. (2005) Adipocyte-specific glucocorticoid inactivation protects against diet-induced obesity. *Diabetes*, 54(4):1023-1031.
- Koistinen, H. A., Forsgren, M., Wallberg-Henriksson, H. & Zierath, J. R. (2004) Insulin action on expression of novel adipose genes in healthy and type 2 diabetic subjects. *Obes Res*, **12**(1):25-31.
- Kola, B., Hubina, E., Tucci, S. A., Kirkham, T. C., Garcia, E. A., Mitchell, S. E., Williams, L. M., Hawley, S. A., Hardie, D. G., Grossman, A. B. & Korbonits, M. (2005) Cannabinoids and ghrelin have both central and peripheral metabolic and cardiac effects via AMP-activated protein kinase. *J Biol Chem*, 280(26):25196-25201.
- Kola, B. (2008) Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in the control of appetite. J *Neuroendocrinol*, **20**(7):942-951.
- Kondo, K., Nozawa, K., tomira, T. & Ezaki, K. (1957) Inbread strains resulting from Japanese mice. *Bull Exp Anim*, **6**:107-112.
- Kotelevtsev, Y., Holmes, M. C., Burchell, A., Houston, P. M., Schmoll, D., Jamieson, P., Best, R., Brown, R., Edwards, C. R., Seckl, J. R. & Mullins, J. J. (1997) 11betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 knockout mice show attenuated glucocorticoid-inducible responses and resist hyperglycemia on obesity or stress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **94**(26):14924-14929.
- Krook, A., Whitehead, J. P., Dobson, S. P., Griffiths, M. R., Ouwens, M., Baker, C., Hayward, A. C., Sen, S. K., Maassen, J. A., Siddle, K., Tavare, J. M. & O'Rahilly, S. (1997) Two naturally occurring insulin receptor tyrosine kinase domain mutants provide evidence that phosphoinositide 3-kinase activation alone is not sufficient for the mediation of insulin's metabolic and mitogenic effects. *J Biol Chem*, 272(48):30208-30214.
- Kumada, M., Kihara, S., Sumitsuji, S., Kawamoto, T., Matsumoto, S., Ouchi, N., Arita, Y., Okamoto, Y., Shimomura, I., Hiraoka, H., Nakamura, T., Funahashi, T. & Matsuzawa, Y. (2003) Association of hypoadiponectinemia with coronary artery disease in men. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 23(1):85-89.
- Kuoppamaa, H., Skrobuk, P., Sihvo, M., Hiukka, A., Chibalin, A. V., Zierath, J. R. & Koistinen, H. A. (2008) Globular adiponectin stimulates glucose transport in type 2 diabetic muscle. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*, 24(7):554-562.

- Kurokawa, M., Akino, K. & Kanda, K. (2000) A new apparatus for studying feeding and drinking in the mouse. *Physiol Behav*, **70**(1-2):105-112.
- Lara-Castro, C., Luo, N., Wallace, P., Klein, R. L. & Garvey, W. T. (2006) Adiponectin multimeric complexes and the metabolic syndrome trait cluster. *Diabetes*, **55**(1):249-259.
- Larsen, P. J., Lykkegaard, K., Larsen, L. K., Fleckner, J., Sauerberg, P., Wassermann, K. & Wulff, E. M. (2008) Dissociation of antihyperglycaemic and adverse effects of partial perioxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR-gamma) agonist balaglitazone. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **596**(1-3):173-179.
- Lee, A. D., Hansen, P. A. & Holloszy, J. O. (1995) Wortmannin inhibits insulinstimulated but not contraction-stimulated glucose transport activity in skeletal muscle. *FEBS Lett*, 361(1):51-54.
- Leiter, E. H., Reifsnyder, P. C., Zhang, W., Pan, H. J., Xiao, Q. & Mistry, J. (2006) Differential endocrine responses to rosiglitazone therapy in new mouse models of type 2 diabetes. *Endocrinology*, **147**(2):919-926.
- Levin, B. E., Hogan, S. & Sullivan, A. C. (1989) Initiation and perpetuation of obesity and obesity resistance in rats. *Am J Physiol*, **256**(3 Pt 2):R766-771.
- Lipinski, C. A., Lombardo, F., Dominy, B. W. & Feeney, P. J. (2001) Experimental and computational approaches to estimate solubility and permeability in drug discovery and development settings. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, **46**(1-3):3-26.
- Liu, Y., Wan, Q., Guan, Q., Gao, L. & Zhao, J. (2006) High-fat diet feeding impairs both the expression and activity of AMPKa in rats' skeletal muscle. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, **339**(2):701-707.
- Lloyd, D. J., Helmering, J., Cordover, D., Bowsman, M., Chen, M., Hale, C., Fordstrom, P., Zhou, M., Wang, M., Kaufman, S. A. & Veniant, M. M. (2009) Antidiabetic effects of 11beta-HSD1 inhibition in a mouse model of combined diabetes, dyslipidaemia and atherosclerosis. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, **11**(7):688-699.
- Long, Y. C. & Zierath, J. R. (2006) AMP-activated protein kinase signaling in metabolic regulation. *J Clin Invest*, **116**(7):1776-1783.
- Maeda, N., Takahashi, M., Funahashi, T., Kihara, S., Nishizawa, H., Kishida, K., Nagaretani, H., Matsuda, M., Komuro, R., Ouchi, N., Kuriyama, H., Hotta, K., Nakamura, T., Shimomura, I. & Matsuzawa, Y. (2001) PPARgamma ligands increase expression and plasma concentrations of adiponectin, an adipose-derived protein. *Diabetes*, 50(9):2094-2099.
- Makimattila, S., Fineman, M. S. & Yki-Jarvinen, H. (2000) Deficiency of total and nonglycosylated amylin in plasma characterizes subjects with impaired glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 85(8):2822-2827.
- Masuzaki, H., Paterson, J., Shinyama, H., Morton, N. M., Mullins, J. J., Seckl, J. R. & Flier, J. S. (2001) A transgenic model of visceral obesity and the metabolic syndrome. *Science*, **294**(5549):2166-2170.
- Mayerson, A. B., Hundal, R. S., Dufour, S., Lebon, V., Befroy, D., Cline, G. W., Enocksson, S., Inzucchi, S. E., Shulman, G. I. & Petersen, K. F. (2002) The effects of rosiglitazone on insulin sensitivity, lipolysis, and hepatic and skeletal muscle triglyceride content in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, **51**(3):797-802.
- Merrill, G. F., Kurth, E. J., Hardie, D. G. & Winder, W. W. (1997) AICA riboside increases AMP-activated protein kinase, fatty acid oxidation, and glucose uptake in rat muscle. *Am J Physiol*, **273**(6 Pt 1):E1107-1112.
- Merrill, G. F., Kurth, E. J., Rasmussen, B. B. & Winder, W. W. (1998) Influence of malonyl-CoA and palmitate concentration on rate of palmitate oxidation in rat muscle. *J Appl Physiol*, **85**(5):1909-1914.
- Minge, C. E., Bennett, B. D., Norman, R. J. & Robker, R. L. (2008) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonist rosiglitazone reverses the adverse effects of diet-induced obesity on oocyte quality. *Endocrinology*, 149(5):2646-2656.
- Minokoshi, Y., Kim, Y. B., Peroni, O. D., Fryer, L. G., Muller, C., Carling, D. & Kahn, B. B. (2002) Leptin stimulates fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nature*, 415(6869):339-343.
- Minokoshi, Y., Alquier, T., Furukawa, N., Kim, Y. B., Lee, A., Xue, B., Mu, J., Foufelle, F., Ferre, P., Birnbaum, M. J., Stuck, B. J. & Kahn, B. B. (2004) AMP-

kinase regulates food intake by responding to hormonal and nutrient signals in the hypothalamus. *Nature*, **428**(6982):569-574.

- Mitchelhill, K. I., Michell, B. J., House, C. M., Stapleton, D., Dyck, J., Gamble, J., Ullrich, C., Witters, L. A. & Kemp, B. E. (1997) Posttranslational modifications of the 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase beta1 subunit. *J Biol Chem*, 272(39):24475-24479.
- Molkentin, J. D., Black, B. L., Martin, J. F. & Olson, E. N. (1995) Cooperative activation of muscle gene expression by MEF2 and myogenic bHLH proteins. *Cell*, **83**(7):1125-1136.
- Mora, S. & Pessin, J. E. (2000) The MEF2A isoform is required for striated musclespecific expression of the insulin-responsive GLUT4 glucose transporter. *J Biol Chem*, **275**(21):16323-16328.
- Morton, N. M., Holmes, M. C., Fievet, C., Staels, B., Tailleux, A., Mullins, J. J. & Seckl, J. R. (2001) Improved lipid and lipoprotein profile, hepatic insulin sensitivity, and glucose tolerance in 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 null mice. *J Biol Chem*, 276(44):41293-41300.
- Morton, N. M., Paterson, J. M., Masuzaki, H., Holmes, M. C., Staels, B., Fievet, C., Walker, B. R., Flier, J. S., Mullins, J. J. & Seckl, J. R. (2004) Novel adipose tissuemediated resistance to diet-induced visceral obesity in 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1-deficient mice. *Diabetes*, 53(4):931-938.
- Mu, J., Brozinick, J. T., Jr., Valladares, O., Bucan, M. & Birnbaum, M. J. (2001) A role for AMP-activated protein kinase in contraction- and hypoxia-regulated glucose transport in skeletal muscle. *Mol Cell*, 7(5):1085-1094.
- Musi, N., Fujii, N., Hirshman, M. F., Ekberg, I., Froberg, S., Ljungqvist, O., Thorell, A. & Goodyear, L. J. (2001) AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is activated in muscle of subjects with type 2 diabetes during exercise. *Diabetes*, 50(5):921-927.
- Nakamura, M. (1962) A diabetic strain of the mouse. Proc Japan Acad, 38:348-352.
- Nakashima, K. & Yakabe, Y. (2007) AMPK activation stimulates myofibrillar protein degradation and expression of atrophy-related ubiquitin ligases by increasing FOXO transcription factors in C2C12 myotubes. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem*, **71**(7):1650-1656.
- Nauck, M. A., Ellis, G. C., Fleck, P. R., Wilson, C. A. & Mekki, Q. (2009) Efficacy and safety of adding the dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor alogliptin to metformin therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled with metformin monotherapy: a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Int J Clin Pract*, 63(1):46-55.
- Nishimura (1969) Breeding of mice strains for diabetes mellitus. *Exp. Anim.*, **18:**147-157.
- Nissen, S. E. & Wolski, K. (2007) Effect of rosiglitazone on the risk of myocardial infarction and death from cardiovascular causes. *N Engl J Med*, **356**(24):2457-2471.
- Okazaki, Y., Furuno, M., Kasukawa, T., Adachi, J., Bono, H., Kondo, S., Nikaido, I., Osato, N., Saito, R., Suzuki, H., Yamanaka, I., Kiyosawa, H., Yagi, K., Tomaru, Y., Hasegawa, Y., Nogami, A., Schonbach, C., Gojobori, T., Baldarelli, R., Hill, D. P., Bult, C., Hume, D. A., Quackenbush, J., Schriml, L. M., Kanapin, A., Matsuda, H., Batalov, S., Beisel, K. W., Blake, J. A., Bradt, D., Brusic, V., Chothia, C., Corbani, L. E., Cousins, S., Dalla, E., Dragani, T. A., Fletcher, C. F., Forrest, A., Frazer, K. S., Gaasterland, T., Gariboldi, M., Gissi, C., Godzik, A., Gough, J., Grimmond, S., Gustincich, S., Hirokawa, N., Jackson, I. J., Jarvis, E. D., Kanai, A., Kawaji, H., Kawasawa, Y., Kedzierski, R. M., King, B. L., Konagaya, A., Kurochkin, I. V., Lee, Y., Lenhard, B., Lyons, P. A., Maglott, D. R., Maltais, L., Marchionni, L., McKenzie, L., Miki, H., Nagashima, T., Numata, K., Okido, T., Pavan, W. J., Pertea, G., Pesole, G., Petrovsky, N., Pillai, R., Pontius, J. U., Qi, D., Ramachandran, S., Ravasi, T., Reed, J. C., Reed, D. J., Reid, J., Ring, B. Z., Ringwald, M., Sandelin, A., Schneider, C., Semple, C. A., Setou, M., Shimada, K., Sultana, R., Takenaka, Y., Taylor, M. S., Teasdale, R. D., Tomita, M., Verardo, R., Wagner, L., Wahlestedt, C., Wang, Y., Watanabe, Y., Wells, C., Wilming, L. G., Wynshaw-Boris, A., Yanagisawa, M., et al. (2002) Analysis of the mouse transcriptome based on functional annotation of 60,770 full-length cDNAs. Nature, **420**(6915):563-573.

- Osler, M. E. & Zierath, J. R. (2008) Adenosine 5'-monophosphate-activated protein kinase regulation of fatty acid oxidation in skeletal muscle. *Endocrinology*, **149**(3):935-941.
- Ouchi, N., Kihara, S., Arita, Y., Maeda, K., Kuriyama, H., Okamoto, Y., Hotta, K., Nishida, M., Takahashi, M., Nakamura, T., Yamashita, S., Funahashi, T. & Matsuzawa, Y. (1999) Novel modulator for endothelial adhesion molecules: adipocyte-derived plasma protein adiponectin. *Circulation*, **100**(25):2473-2476.
- Ouchi, N., Shibata, R. & Walsh, K. (2006a) Targeting adiponectin for cardioprotection. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*, **10**(4):573-581.
- Ouchi, N., Shibata, R. & Walsh, K. (2006b) Cardioprotection by adiponectin. *Trends Cardiovasc Med*, **16**(5):141-146.
- Pajvani, U. B., Hawkins, M., Combs, T. P., Rajala, M. W., Doebber, T., Berger, J. P., Wagner, J. A., Wu, M., Knopps, A., Xiang, A. H., Utzschneider, K. M., Kahn, S. E., Olefsky, J. M., Buchanan, T. A. & Scherer, P. E. (2004) Complex distribution, not absolute amount of adiponectin, correlates with thiazolidinedione-mediated improvement in insulin sensitivity. *J Biol Chem*, **279**(13):12152-12162.
- Pelleymounter, M. A., Cullen, M. J., Baker, M. B., Hecht, R., Winters, D., Boone, T. & Collins, F. (1995) Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. *Science*, 269(5223):540-543.
- Rao, R., Zhang, M. Z., Zhao, M., Cai, H., Harris, R. C., Breyer, M. D. & Hao, C. M. (2005) Lithium treatment inhibits renal GSK-3 activity and promotes cyclooxygenase 2-dependent polyuria. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, 288(4):F642-649.
- Rask, E., Olsson, T., Soderberg, S., Andrew, R., Livingstone, D. E., Johnson, O. & Walker, B. R. (2001) Tissue-specific dysregulation of cortisol metabolism in human obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 86(3):1418-1421.
- Rose, A. J. & Richter, E. A. (2005) Skeletal muscle glucose uptake during exercise: how is it regulated? *Physiology (Bethesda)*, **20**:260-270.
- Rosenstock, J., Banarer, S., Fonseca, V. & Inzucchi, S. (2009) *Efficacy and safety of the 11-beta-HSD1 inhibitor, INCB13739, added to metformin therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes.* in proceedings from 69th Annu Meet Sci Sess Am Diabetes Assoc (ADA) New Orleans.
- Rushing, P. A. (2003) Central amylin signaling and the regulation of energy homeostasis. *Curr Pharm Des*, **9**(10):819-825.
- Saad, M. J., Folli, F., Kahn, J. A. & Kahn, C. R. (1993) Modulation of insulin receptor, insulin receptor substrate-1, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in liver and muscle of dexamethasone-treated rats. *J Clin Invest*, **92**(4):2065-2072.
- Sakamoto, K., McCarthy, A., Smith, D., Green, K. A., Grahame Hardie, D., Ashworth, A. & Alessi, D. R. (2005) Deficiency of LKB1 in skeletal muscle prevents AMPK activation and glucose uptake during contraction. *EMBO J*, 24(10):1810-1820.
- Sakamoto, K. & Holman, G. D. (2008) Emerging role for AS160/TBC1D4 and TBC1D1 in the regulation of GLUT4 traffic. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 295(1):E29-37.
- Salt, I., Celler, J. W., Hawley, S. A., Prescott, A., Woods, A., Carling, D. & Hardie, D. G. (1998) AMP-activated protein kinase: greater AMP dependence, and preferential nuclear localization, of complexes containing the alpha2 isoform. *Biochem J*, 334 (Pt 1):177-187.
- Sanguinetti, M. C., Jiang, C., Curran, M. E. & Keating, M. T. (1995) A mechanistic link between an inherited and an acquired cardiac arrhythmia: HERG encodes the IKr potassium channel. *Cell*, **81**(2):299-307.
- Santalucia, T., Moreno, H., Palacin, M., Yacoub, M. H., Brand, N. J. & Zorzano, A. (2001) A novel functional co-operation between MyoD, MEF2 and TRalpha1 is sufficient for the induction of GLUT4 gene transcription. *J Mol Biol*, **314**(2):195-204.
- Sarbassov, D. D., Guertin, D. A., Ali, S. M. & Sabatini, D. M. (2005) Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. *Science*, **307**(5712):1098-1101.
- Scheen, A. J. (2001) Thiazolidinediones and liver toxicity. *Diabetes Metab*, 27(3):305-313.

- Scherer, P. E., Williams, S., Fogliano, M., Baldini, G. & Lodish, H. F. (1995) A novel serum protein similar to C1q, produced exclusively in adipocytes. *J Biol Chem*, 270(45):26746-26749.
- Schimke, K. & Davis, T. M. (2007) Drug evaluation: rivoglitazone, a new oral therapy for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Curr Opin Investig Drugs*, **8**(4):338-344.
- Scott, J. W., Hawley, S. A., Green, K. A., Anis, M., Stewart, G., Scullion, G. A., Norman, D. G. & Hardie, D. G. (2004) CBS domains form energy-sensing modules whose binding of adenosine ligands is disrupted by disease mutations. J Clin Invest, 113(2):274-284.
- Shaw, R. J., Lamia, K. A., Vasquez, D., Koo, S. H., Bardeesy, N., Depinho, R. A., Montminy, M. & Cantley, L. C. (2005) The kinase LKB1 mediates glucose homeostasis in liver and therapeutic effects of metformin. *Science*, **310**(5754):1642-1646.
- Shibuya, H., Yamaguchi, K., Shirakabe, K., Tonegawa, A., Gotoh, Y., Ueno, N., Irie, K., Nishida, E. & Matsumoto, K. (1996) TAB1: an activator of the TAK1 MAPKKK in TGF-beta signal transduction. *Science*, 272(5265):1179-1182.
- Sievers, M. L., Nelson, R. G., Knowler, W. C. & Bennett, P. H. (1992) Impact of NIDDM on mortality and causes of death in Pima Indians. *Diabetes Care*, 15(11):1541-1549.
- Silvestre, R. A., Rodriguez-Gallardo, J., Jodka, C., Parkes, D. G., Pittner, R. A., Young, A. A. & Marco, J. (2001) Selective amylin inhibition of the glucagon response to arginine is extrinsic to the pancreas. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 280(3):E443-449.
- Slattery, M. L. & Fitzpatrick, F. A. (2009) Convergence of hormones, inflammation, and energy-related factors: a novel pathway of cancer etiology. *Cancer Prev Res* (*Phila Pa*), **2**(11):922-930.
- Song, X. M., Fiedler, M., Galuska, D., Ryder, J. W., Fernstrom, M., Chibalin, A. V., Wallberg-Henriksson, H. & Zierath, J. R. (2002) 5-Aminoimidazole-4carboxamide ribonucleoside treatment improves glucose homeostasis in insulinresistant diabetic (ob/ob) mice. *Diabetologia*, 45(1):56-65.
- Spranger, J., Kroke, A., Mohlig, M., Bergmann, M. M., Ristow, M., Boeing, H. & Pfeiffer, A. F. (2003) Adiponectin and protection against type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Lancet*, **361**(9353):226-228.
- Stuart, C. A., Wen, G., Gustafson, W. C. & Thompson, E. A. (2000) Comparison of GLUT1, GLUT3, and GLUT4 mRNA and the subcellular distribution of their proteins in normal human muscle. *Metabolism*, **49**(12):1604-1609.
- Stuart, C. A., Yin, D., Howell, M. E., Dykes, R. J., Laffan, J. J. & Ferrando, A. A. (2006) Hexose transporter mRNAs for GLUT4, GLUT5, and GLUT12 predominate in human muscle. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, **291**(5):E1067-1073.
- Subrahmanyam, K. (1960) Metabolism in the New Zealand strain of obese mice. *Biochem J*, **76**(3):548-556.
- Sullivan, J. E., Carey, F., Carling, D. & Beri, R. K. (1994) Characterisation of 5'-AMPactivated protein kinase in human liver using specific peptide substrates and the effects of 5'-AMP analogues on enzyme activity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 200(3):1551-1556.
- Suter, M., Riek, U., Tuerk, R., Schlattner, U., Wallimann, T. & Neumann, D. (2006) Dissecting the role of 5'-AMP for allosteric stimulation, activation, and deactivation of AMP-activated protein kinase. *J Biol Chem*, **281**(43):32207-32216.
- Suto, J., Matsuura, S., Imamura, K., Yamanaka, H. & Sekikawa, K. (1998) Genetic analysis of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in KK and KK-Ay mice. *Eur J Endocrinol*, **139**(6):654-661.
- Taylor, E. B., Hurst, D., Greenwood, L. J., Lamb, J. D., Cline, T. D., Sudweeks, S. N. & Winder, W. W. (2004) Endurance training increases LKB1 and MO25 protein but not AMP-activated protein kinase kinase activity in skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 287(6):E1082-1089.
- Teleman, A. A., Hietakangas, V., Sayadian, A. C. & Cohen, S. M. (2008) Nutritional control of protein biosynthetic capacity by insulin via Myc in Drosophila. *Cell Metab*, 7(1):21-32.

- Thai, M. V., Guruswamy, S., Cao, K. T., Pessin, J. E. & Olson, A. L. (1998) Myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2)-binding site is required for GLUT4 gene expression in transgenic mice. Regulation of MEF2 DNA binding activity in insulin-deficient diabetes. *J Biol Chem*, 273(23):14285-14292.
- Thomas, L., Tadayyon, M. & Mark, M. (2009) Chronic treatment with the dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor BI 1356 [(R)-8-(3-amino-piperidin-1-yl)-7-but-2-ynyl-3-methyl-1-(4-methyl-quinazol in-2-ylmethyl)-3,7-dihydro-purine-2,6-dione] increases basal glucagon-like peptide-1 and improves glycemic control in diabetic rodent models. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **328**(2):556-563.
- Thornton, C., Snowden, M. A. & Carling, D. (1998) Identification of a novel AMPactivated protein kinase beta subunit isoform that is highly expressed in skeletal muscle. *J Biol Chem*, **273**(20):12443-12450.
- Tiikkainen, M., Hakkinen, A. M., Korsheninnikova, E., Nyman, T., Makimattila, S. & Yki-Jarvinen, H. (2004) Effects of rosiglitazone and metformin on liver fat content, hepatic insulin resistance, insulin clearance, and gene expression in adipose tissue in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, **53**(8):2169-2176.
- Tokumitsu, H., Iwabu, M., Ishikawa, Y. & Kobayashi, R. (2001) Differential regulatory mechanism of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase isoforms. *Biochemistry*, **40**(46):13925-13932.
- Tomas, E., Tsao, T. S., Saha, A. K., Murrey, H. E., Zhang Cc, C., Itani, S. I., Lodish, H. F. & Ruderman, N. B. (2002) Enhanced muscle fat oxidation and glucose transport by ACRP30 globular domain: acetyl-CoA carboxylase inhibition and AMP-activated protein kinase activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **99**(25):16309-16313.
- Trudeau, M. C., Warmke, J. W., Ganetzky, B. & Robertson, G. A. (1995) HERG, a human inward rectifier in the voltage-gated potassium channel family. *Science*, **269**(5220):92-95.
- Turnley, A. M., Stapleton, D., Mann, R. J., Witters, L. A., Kemp, B. E. & Bartlett, P. F. (1999) Cellular distribution and developmental expression of AMP-activated protein kinase isoforms in mouse central nervous system. *J Neurochem*, 72(4):1707-1716.
- Vanhaesebroeck, B. & Alessi, D. R. (2000) The PI3K-PDK1 connection: more than just a road to PKB. *Biochem J*, **346 Pt 3:**561-576.
- Vazquez, M. J., Gonzalez, C. R., Varela, L., Lage, R., Tovar, S., Sangiao-Alvarellos, S., Williams, L. M., Vidal-Puig, A., Nogueiras, R., Lopez, M. & Dieguez, C. (2008) Central resistin regulates hypothalamic and peripheral lipid metabolism in a nutritional-dependent fashion. *Endocrinology*, **149**(9):4534-4543.
- Vestergaard, H., Lund, S., Larsen, F. S., Bjerrum, O. J. & Pedersen, O. (1993) Glycogen synthase and phosphofructokinase protein and mRNA levels in skeletal muscle from insulin-resistant patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest, 91(6):2342-2350.
- Vestergaard, H., Bjorbaek, C., Hansen, T., Larsen, F. S., Granner, D. K. & Pedersen, O. (1995) Impaired activity and gene expression of hexokinase II in muscle from noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus patients. *J Clin Invest*, **96**(6):2639-2645.
- Villena, J. A., Viollet, B., Andreelli, F., Kahn, A., Vaulont, S. & Sul, H. S. (2004) Induced adiposity and adipocyte hypertrophy in mice lacking the AMP-activated protein kinase-alpha2 subunit. *Diabetes*, **53**(9):2242-2249.
- Vincent, M. F., Erion, M. D., Gruber, H. E. & Van den Berghe, G. (1996) Hypoglycaemic effect of AICAriboside in mice. *Diabetologia*, **39**(10):1148-1155.
- Viollet, B., Andreelli, F., Jorgensen, S. B., Perrin, C., Geloen, A., Flamez, D., Mu, J., Lenzner, C., Baud, O., Bennoun, M., Gomas, E., Nicolas, G., Wojtaszewski, J. F., Kahn, A., Carling, D., Schuit, F. C., Birnbaum, M. J., Richter, E. A., Burcelin, R. & Vaulont, S. (2003) The AMP-activated protein kinase alpha2 catalytic subunit controls whole-body insulin sensitivity. *J Clin Invest*, **111**(1):91-98.
- Virmani, A., Binienda, Z. K., Ali, S. F. & Gaetani, F. (2007) Metabolic syndrome in drug abuse. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, **1122:**50-68.
- Waki, H., Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Ito, Y., Uchida, S., Kita, S., Hara, K., Hada, Y., Vasseur, F., Froguel, P., Kimura, S., Nagai, R. & Kadowaki, T. (2003) Impaired multimerization of human adiponectin mutants associated with diabetes. Molecular

structure and multimer formation of adiponectin. J Biol Chem, 278(41):40352-40363.

- Walker, B. R., Connacher, A. A., Lindsay, R. M., Webb, D. J. & Edwards, C. R. (1995) Carbenoxolone increases hepatic insulin sensitivity in man: a novel role for 11oxosteroid reductase in enhancing glucocorticoid receptor activation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 80(11):3155-3159.
- Wallberg-Henriksson, H., Zetan, N. & Henriksson, J. (1987) Reversibility of decreased insulin-stimulated glucose transport capacity in diabetic muscle with in vitro incubation. Insulin is not required. J Biol Chem, 262(16):7665-7671.
- Wang, D. Z., Valdez, M. R., McAnally, J., Richardson, J. & Olson, E. N. (2001) The Mef2c gene is a direct transcriptional target of myogenic bHLH and MEF2 proteins during skeletal muscle development. *Development*, **128**(22):4623-4633.
- Wang, S. J., Birtles, S., de Schoolmeester, J., Swales, J., Moody, G., Hislop, D., O'Dowd, J., Smith, D. M., Turnbull, A. V. & Arch, J. R. (2006) Inhibition of 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 reduces food intake and weight gain but maintains energy expenditure in diet-induced obese mice. *Diabetologia*, 49(6):1333-1337.
- Warden, S. M., Richardson, C., O'Donnell, J., Jr., Stapleton, D., Kemp, B. E. & Witters, L. A. (2001) Post-translational modifications of the beta-1 subunit of AMP-activated protein kinase affect enzyme activity and cellular localization. *Biochem J*, 354(Pt 2):275-283.
- Washburn, W. N. (2009) Development of the renal glucose reabsorption inhibitors: a new mechanism for the pharmacotherapy of diabetes mellitus type 2. *J Med Chem*, **52**(7):1785-1794.
- Waterston, R. H., Lindblad-Toh, K., Birney, E., Rogers, J., Abril, J. F., Agarwal, P., Agarwala, R., Ainscough, R., Alexandersson, M., An, P., Antonarakis, S. E., Attwood, J., Baertsch, R., Bailey, J., Barlow, K., Beck, S., Berry, E., Birren, B., Bloom, T., Bork, P., Botcherby, M., Bray, N., Brent, M. R., Brown, D. G., Brown, S. D., Bult, C., Burton, J., Butler, J., Campbell, R. D., Carninci, P., Cawley, S., Chiaromonte, F., Chinwalla, A. T., Church, D. M., Clamp, M., Clee, C., Collins, F. S., Cook, L. L., Copley, R. R., Coulson, A., Couronne, O., Cuff, J., Curwen, V., Cutts, T., Daly, M., David, R., Davies, J., Delehaunty, K. D., Deri, J., Dermitzakis, E. T., Dewey, C., Dickens, N. J., Diekhans, M., Dodge, S., Dubchak, I., Dunn, D. M., Eddy, S. R., Elnitski, L., Emes, R. D., Eswara, P., Eyras, E., Felsenfeld, A., Fewell, G. A., Flicek, P., Foley, K., Frankel, W. N., Fulton, L. A., Fulton, R. S., Furey, T. S., Gage, D., Gibbs, R. A., Glusman, G., Gnerre, S., Goldman, N., Goodstadt, L., Grafham, D., Graves, T. A., Green, E. D., Gregory, S., Guigo, R., Guyer, M., Hardison, R. C., Haussler, D., Hayashizaki, Y., Hillier, L. W., Hinrichs, A., Hlavina, W., Holzer, T., Hsu, F., Hua, A., Hubbard, T., Hunt, A., Jackson, I., Jaffe, D. B., Johnson, L. S., Jones, M., Jones, T. A., Joy, A., Kamal, M., Karlsson, E. K., et al. (2002) Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature, 420(6915):520-562.
- West, D. B., Boozer, C. N., Moody, D. L. & Atkinson, R. L. (1992) Dietary obesity in nine inbred mouse strains. *Am J Physiol*, **262**(6 Pt 2):R1025-1032.
- Weyer, C., Maggs, D. G., Young, A. A. & Kolterman, O. G. (2001) Amylin replacement with pramlintide as an adjunct to insulin therapy in type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a physiological approach toward improved metabolic control. *Curr Pharm Des*, **7**(14):1353-1373.
- Wiernsperger, N. F. & Bailey, C. J. (1999) The antihyperglycaemic effect of metformin: therapeutic and cellular mechanisms. *Drugs*, **58 Suppl 1:**31-39; discussion 75-82.
- Willi, C., Bodenmann, P., Ghali, W. A., Faris, P. D. & Cornuz, J. (2007) Active smoking and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*, **298**(22):2654-2664.
- Winder, W. W. & Hardie, D. G. (1996) Inactivation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase and activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in muscle during exercise. *Am J Physiol*, **270**(2 Pt 1):E299-304.
- Winder, W. W. & Hardie, D. G. (1999) AMP-activated protein kinase, a metabolic master switch: possible roles in type 2 diabetes. *Am J Physiol*, **277**(1 Pt 1):E1-10.

- Witczak, C. A., Fujii, N., Hirshman, M. F. & Goodyear, L. J. (2007) Ca2+/calmodulindependent protein kinase kinase-alpha regulates skeletal muscle glucose uptake independent of AMP-activated protein kinase and Akt activation. *Diabetes*, 56(5):1403-1409.
- Witczak, C. A., Sharoff, C. G. & Goodyear, L. J. (2008) AMP-activated protein kinase in skeletal muscle: from structure and localization to its role as a master regulator of cellular metabolism. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 65(23):3737-3755.
- Wojtaszewski, J. F., Higaki, Y., Hirshman, M. F., Michael, M. D., Dufresne, S. D., Kahn, C. R. & Goodyear, L. J. (1999) Exercise modulates postreceptor insulin signaling and glucose transport in muscle-specific insulin receptor knockout mice. *J Clin Invest*, **104**(9):1257-1264.
- Woods, A., Salt, I., Scott, J., Hardie, D. G. & Carling, D. (1996) The alpha1 and alpha2 isoforms of the AMP-activated protein kinase have similar activities in rat liver but exhibit differences in substrate specificity in vitro. *FEBS Lett*, **397**(2-3):347-351.
- Xie, M., Zhang, D., Dyck, J. R., Li, Y., Zhang, H., Morishima, M., Mann, D. L., Taffet, G. E., Baldini, A., Khoury, D. S. & Schneider, M. D. (2006) A pivotal role for endogenous TGF-beta-activated kinase-1 in the LKB1/AMP-activated protein kinase energy-sensor pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **103**(46):17378-17383.
- Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Waki, H., Terauchi, Y., Kubota, N., Hara, K., Mori, Y., Ide, T., Murakami, K., Tsuboyama-Kasaoka, N., Ezaki, O., Akanuma, Y., Gavrilova, O., Vinson, C., Reitman, M. L., Kagechika, H., Shudo, K., Yoda, M., Nakano, Y., Tobe, K., Nagai, R., Kimura, S., Tomita, M., Froguel, P. & Kadowaki, T. (2001) The fat-derived hormone adiponectin reverses insulin resistance associated with both lipoatrophy and obesity. *Nat Med*, 7(8):941-946.
- Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Minokoshi, Y., Ito, Y., Waki, H., Uchida, S., Yamashita, S., Noda, M., Kita, S., Ueki, K., Eto, K., Akanuma, Y., Froguel, P., Foufelle, F., Ferre, P., Carling, D., Kimura, S., Nagai, R., Kahn, B. B. & Kadowaki, T. (2002) Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nat Med*, 8(11):1288-1295.
- Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Ito, Y., Tsuchida, A., Yokomizo, T., Kita, S., Sugiyama, T., Miyagishi, M., Hara, K., Tsunoda, M., Murakami, K., Ohteki, T., Uchida, S., Takekawa, S., Waki, H., Tsuno, N. H., Shibata, Y., Terauchi, Y., Froguel, P., Tobe, K., Koyasu, S., Taira, K., Kitamura, T., Shimizu, T., Nagai, R. & Kadowaki, T. (2003) Cloning of adiponectin receptors that mediate antidiabetic metabolic effects. *Nature*, **423**(6941):762-769.
- Yaspelkis, B. B., 3rd, Davis, J. R., Saberi, M., Smith, T. L., Jazayeri, R., Singh, M., Fernandez, V., Trevino, B., Chinookoswong, N., Wang, J., Shi, Z. Q. & Levin, N. (2001) Leptin administration improves skeletal muscle insulin responsiveness in diet-induced insulin-resistant rats. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 280(1):E130-142.
- Yilmaz, H., Gursoy, A., Sahin, M. & Guvener Demirag, N. (2007) Comparison of insulin monotherapy and combination therapy with insulin and metformin or insulin and rosiglitazone or insulin and acarbose in type 2 diabetes. *Acta Diabetol*, 44(4):187-192.
- Yogev, Y. & Catalano, P. M. (2009) Pregnancy and obesity. *Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am*, **36**(2):285-300, viii.
- Young, A. A., Gedulin, B., Vine, W., Percy, A. & Rink, T. J. (1995) Gastric emptying is accelerated in diabetic BB rats and is slowed by subcutaneous injections of amylin. *Diabetologia*, **38**(6):642-648.
- Young, M. E., Radda, G. K. & Leighton, B. (1996) Activation of glycogen phosphorylase and glycogenolysis in rat skeletal muscle by AICAR-an activator of AMP-activated protein kinase. *FEBS Lett*, **382**(1-2):43-47.
- Yu, J. G., Javorschi, S., Hevener, A. L., Kruszynska, Y. T., Norman, R. A., Sinha, M. & Olefsky, J. M. (2002) The effect of thiazolidinediones on plasma adiponectin levels in normal, obese, and type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes*, 51(10):2968-2974.
- Zang, M., Xu, S., Maitland-Toolan, K. A., Zuccollo, A., Hou, X., Jiang, B., Wierzbicki, M., Verbeuren, T. J. & Cohen, R. A. (2006) Polyphenols stimulate AMP-activated protein kinase, lower lipids, and inhibit accelerated atherosclerosis in diabetic LDL receptor-deficient mice. *Diabetes*, 55(8):2180-2191.

- Zhang, F., Clemens, L. E., Gregoire, F. M., Udove, J., Bell, A. M., Y., Chandalia, A. & Gustafson, T. A. (2007) Metaglidasen, a novel SPPARgammaM (selective PPARgamma modulator), reduces macrophage infiltration in white adipose tissue in db/db mide and Zucker fa/fa rats and suppresses inflammatory responsive genes in macrophages. in proceedings from Diabetes Mol Gen Signal Pathw Integr Physiol Keystone.
- Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L. & Friedman, J. M. (1994) Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature*, 372(6505):425-432.
- Zhou, G., Myers, R., Li, Y., Chen, Y., Shen, X., Fenyk-Melody, J., Wu, M., Ventre, J., Doebber, T., Fujii, N., Musi, N., Hirshman, M. F., Goodyear, L. J. & Moller, D. E. (2001) Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action. J *Clin Invest*, **108**(8):1167-1174.
- Zucker, L. M. & Antoniades, H. N. (1972) Insulin and obesity in the Zucker genetically obese rat "fatty". *Endocrinology*, **90**(5):1320-1330.